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1.0 Introduction 
 
Council’s road infrastructure represents a significant investment by the community and is 
vital to its health and well-being. Mount Alexander Shire provides a road network 
covering 1431 kilometres with a replacement value of approximately $184 million,  
229 bridges with a replacement value of $49 million, and 39 kilometres of footpaths with 
a replacement value of $3.4 million. 
 
Responsible road management and maintenance involves consideration of expected 
service delivery, management of public risk, optimising asset life and efficient use of 
available resources. 
 
Benefits of this approach are the provision of accountable service delivery and the 
management of public risk in a cost effective manner. 
 
In accordance with the Road Management Act 2004, all road authorities are required to 
document road maintenance service targets and to prepare a register of public roads for 
which the road authority is responsible as part of a Road Management Plan. 
 
The assets addressed in this Plan relate to Council’s Road and Transport infrastructure 
which includes road pavements, road surfaces, kerb and channel, bridges and major 
culverts, street furniture, road drainage, and footpaths.  
 
The Road Management Plan sets out the service targets Council intends to achieve for 
the various classes of roads detailed in its hierarchy. 
 

2.0 Responsibilities 
 
For a comprehensive listing of municipal roads and associated assets that Mount 
Alexander Shire Council has accepted responsibility for, reference should be made to 
the Mount Alexander Shire Register of Public Roads. In general the category of roads 
that Council is not responsible for and accepts no liability for include:  
 
• Freeways, e.g. Calder Freeway; 
• State Highways, Midland and Pyrenees Highways; 
• Arterial Roads; 
• State Forest Roads and Tracks; and 
• Private roads. 
 
Arterial roads within Mount Alexander Shire for which Council is not responsible include: 
 
Midland Highway   A100 
Pyrenees Highway   B180 
Castlemaine Maldon Road   C282 
Maldon Newstead Road   C283 
Maldon Bendigo Road   C283 
Maldon Bridgewater Road   C282 
Creswick Newstead Road   C283 
Daylesford Newstead Road   C285 
Calder Highway (South of B180) C794 
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3.0 Key Stakeholders 
 
This plan is intended to demonstrate to stakeholders that Council is managing its assets 
responsibly. 
 
The key stakeholders include: 
 
Figure 1 
 

Stakeholders Responsibility 
State and Federal 
Government 

To measure Asset Management performance 
Ensure compliance with various legislation 
Generally being responsible for Local Government 

Community To have identified targets for services for which they rely on 
Insurers Evidence of risk management strategies 

 

4.0 Road Management Plan Overview 
This Road Management Plan is intended to support Council to provide a safe and 
efficient road and transport network for use by all members of the public and good road 
and transport asset management practices focussed on achieving desired outcomes 
considering financial restrictions, available resources and various policies, priorities and 
strategies of governments and Council. 
 
According to the Road Management Act 2004 the making of a road management plan 
is voluntary. Section 50 of the Act identifies the purpose of the Road Management Plan 
as to: 

• establish a Management System for the Road Management functions of a 
road authority which is based on policy and  

• enables operational objectives and available resources, and  
• to set the relevant standard in relation to the discharge of duties in the 

performance of those Road Management functions. 
 
The Council Plan 2013-2017 sets the basis for budget formulation within the capability of 
Council to resource. The Plan will not be static and will be continually reshaped as the 
impact of changes in community expectation, funding opportunities and other influences 
take effect.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE REST OF THIS PAGE HAS BEEN LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 
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5.0 Description of the Road Infrastructure 
 
Mount Alexander Shire Council is responsible for maintenance activities on 
approximately 1431 kilometres of road pavement and associated infrastructure together 
with 229 bridge and major culvert structures and 39 kilometres of footpath. 
 
Generally, the types or class of road infrastructure for which Council is the responsible 
road authority are: 
 
a) Roadways 
 Roadways are deemed to be either sealed or gravel surface and include the area 

within the road reserve developed for the purposes of driving of motor vehicles. 
These may include formal parking areas on roadways for which the Council is not 
the responsible road authority as detailed in the Register of Public Roads. 

 
b) Footpaths 
 Footpaths are deemed to be the area with the road reserve that has been formally 

constructed for pedestrian use. It is generally accepted that they are in the urban 
areas and may be varied in surface type. It includes shared paths in the road 
reserve, but excluding paths outside of the road reserve (for example, in creek 
corridors). 

 
c) Bridges and culverts 
 These are major structures located within a roadway to facilitate the crossing of a 

significant waterway by motor vehicles and pedestrians. 
 
d) Kerbs and Channels 
 These are deemed to be a concrete barrier or a stone drain designed to drain the 

roadway and adjacent land and protect the integrity of the roadway. 
 
e) Street Furniture 
 This includes all ancillary items along a roadway which may improve safety, 

aesthetics or community amenity. It includes items such as bollards, guideposts and 
roadside guardrails. 

 
f) Underground Drainage 
 Significant underground pipe network provided for the discrete passage of rain 

water and generally provided in urban areas is included in this category. They drain 
the roadway and surrounding land by placing the water in an underground pipe 
network to preserve public amenity and provide some protection to adjacent assets 
and discharging to a designated location. 

 
It should be recognised that the above descriptions are general. For specific details of 
the roads and road segments for which Mount Alexander Shire Council is responsible, 
reference should be made to Council’s Register of Public Roads.  
 
This register is updated annually and is available for viewing at the Customer Service 
Counter of the Civic Centre, and on Council’s website. 
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5.1 Council’s Road Hierarchy 
 
A Road Hierarchy has been established to provide a framework in order to rank each of 
the roads for maintenance activities. The hierarchy has been prepared according to 
traffic volumes & type, road function as well as strategic routes and standards so as to 
best manage inspection regimes, response targets and service level targets (See Figure 
2). 
 
Figure 2 
 

Hierarchy Level Description 
Link Road (LK) 
 

These roads are significant in that they provide a link 
between townships, communities and highways. These 
routes are often the most practical or most direct route to 
a destination. These roads carry significant traffic 
volumes, which may include high commercial vehicles, 
and the main function is often transport efficiency. 
 

Collector and Strategic 
Roads 
(CS) 

These generally connect smaller communities and 
industrial areas and act to feed Link roads. They also 
include roads that provide strategic routes based on 
length of detour, tourist and transport routes, school bus 
route etc. 
 
These roads generally have lower traffic volumes than 
Link roads. 
 

Minor Roads (MN) 
ACCESS DWELLINGS 

This class of road generally provides vehicular access to 
abutting property, however will generally consist of rural 
roads that provide access to sparsely located properties 
and farm outlets. These roads will generally have an 
unsealed wearing surface and provide access to higher 
road class in the rural areas. 
 
These roads generally have lower traffic volumes than 
Collector and Strategic roads. 
 

Local Roads (LL) 
ACCESS PROPERTY 
 

This class of road also generally provides vehicular 
access to abutting property. The main interest is local 
amenity in urban areas and local access and access to 
higher road class. 
 
Although functionally similar to Minor roads the service 
target is likely to be different and will generally consist of 
a sealed surface. 
 
These roads generally have lower traffic volumes than 
Collector and Strategic roads. 
 

Unformed Roads (UR) 
 

These are unused road reserves or seldom-used tracks 
such as fire access tracks. 
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5.2 Footpath Hierarchy 
 
A Footpath Hierarchy has been established to provide a framework in order to rank each 
of the footpaths for maintenance activities. 
 
Figure 3 
 

Hierarchy 
No. Type/Locality Pedestrian Activity Level 
1. Castlemaine and Maldon town/commercial 

centres (defined in the Mount Alexander 
Planning Scheme)  

High 

2. Residential and other areas Low 
 
Note: Council is not responsible for unconstructed or foot trodden tracks over roadside 
land or a path that connects from a roadway or footpath to privately owned land. 
 

6.0 Demarcation Issues 
6.1 Bordering Municipalities 
 
Mount Alexander Shire shares common boundaries with the following municipalities: 
• Greater City of Bendigo; 
• Loddon Shire Council; 
• Central Goldfields Shire Council; 
• Hepburn Shire Council; 
• Macedon Ranges Shire Council; and 
• Mitchell Shire Council. 
 
Details of these agreed areas of responsibility are provided in agreements with each 
bordering municipality and noted in Council’s Register of Public Roads. 
 

6.2 Arterial Roads 
VicRoads is the Coordinating Road Authority for arterial urban roads. Hard copy 
sketches of the line of demarcation between Council and VicRoads have been 
developed based on the Operational Responsibility for Public Roads Code of Practice. 
 
A State Road may be a Freeway, a Declared Arterial Road or a Non-Declared Arterial 
State Road. 
 
In rural areas, VicRoads is responsible for the full width of the road reserve, from 
property line to property line, with the exception of formal foot or shared paths where 
they exist on the verge of these roads.  
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6.3 Crown Land 
 
A number of roads are located on crown land managed by the Department of 
Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) and Parks Victoria. Where these 
roads do not service a Council asset or ratepayer, the road may be the responsibility of 
the relevant Department. In some instances a road may pass through Crown land and 
Council may remain the responsible authority. 

6.4 Rail 
 
The relevant rail authority is responsible for the maintenance of the road and 
infrastructure in the immediate vicinity of a rail crossing and some bridge structures. The 
Rail Safety Act 2006 requires Safety Interface Agreements. 

6.5 Utility Services 
 
The relevant service provider including water, gas, sewer, phone or power is responsible 
for the maintenance of its infrastructure located within a road reserve. 

6.6 Private Streets 
 
A private street is a formed road on private title, built by a developer, private company or 
resident. Sometimes these are named and may have street name signs. These roads 
are not on a road reserve, nor are they a council asset.  They are not maintained by, or 
the responsibility of, Council. As a result they will not be listed on the Public Road 
register and are not covered by this plan. 
 

7.0 Obligations of Road Users and Individuals 
 
The Road Management Act sets down specific requirements for individuals, including 
but not limited to the following: 
 
• Road users are required to drive safely having regard to the road, weather and traffic 

conditions and to avoid unreasonable risks to other road users. 

• Individuals are required to give notice of an incident to a road authority within  
30 days where there is an intention to make a claim for property damage. 

• Road authorities will not be responsible for private driveways on road reserves that 
provide access to land adjoining a road. 

• Management of private roads is not covered in this legislation and will remain the 
responsibility of private owners. 

• Notify and obtain consent from the coordinating road authority where works will be 
undertaken in the road reserve, except for mowing nature strips and driveway works. 

• Obtain a permit from the coordinating road authority, where a non-road activity will 
occur in the road reserve such as a street party. 
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In particular a person who drives a motor vehicle on a public highway must drive in a 
safe manner having regard to all the relevant factors including the: 
a) standard of construction of the road; 
b) prevailing weather conditions; 
c) level of visibility; 
d) condition of the motor vehicle; 
e) prevailing traffic conditions; 
f) relevant road laws and advisory signs; and 
g) physical and mental condition of the driver. 

 

8.0 Civil Liabilities & Obligations 
 
An owner or occupier of land adjoining a public road has a duty of care to the relevant 
road authority, service providers, works and infrastructure managers and road users, 
and must not: 
a) do anything on, or in relation, to the land, or 
b) allow the land to be in a condition 
 
which affects the safety or condition of the public road or any road related infrastructure.  
As detailed in the Local Government Act Schedule 10.12, the property owner is 
responsible for the construction, maintenance and repair of a bridge or crossing over a 
footpath or channel to enable a person to have access to land on the other side of the 
footpath or channel. 
 
Property owners are responsible to ensure these crossings are constructed and 
maintained in a safe and operational condition at all times and to the satisfaction of 
Council. 
 
Figure 4 - Rural Type Piped Driveway Crossing 
 

 
 

Property owner is responsible for area shaded red. 
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Figure 5 - Urban kerb and Channel Layback Driveway Crossing 

 
Property owner is responsible for area shaded red. 

 

9.0 Target Service Levels 
 
The target service levels are used: 
 
• to inform customers of the proposed type and level of service to be offered; 
• to identify the costs and benefits of the services offered; 
• to enable customers to asses suitability, affordability and equity of the services 

offered; and 
• as a focus for the Asset Management strategies developed to deliver the required 

level of service. 
 
Current service level targets are developed with consideration of: 
 
• community expectations via the elected Council representative; 
• current and historic service provisions and resource levels; 
• level of risk, considering the road hierarchy; 
• legislative requirements - legislation, regulations, environmental standards and 

Council by-laws that impact on the way assets are managed; 
• Design Standards and Codes of Practice - Australian Design Standards also provide 

the minimum design parameters for infrastructure delivery by the professional 
Engineer; and 

• service levels of similar sized Councils. 

10.0 Inspection /Surveillance Frequencies 
The inspection cycles identified in the following table (figure 6) outline inspection 
frequency targets. The due date shall be taken as the last day of the month that the 
inspection falls due, plus or minus one week. Hazard inspection frequencies shall 
commence from the due date of the previous inspection (i.e. the actual date of 
inspections does not affect the inspection cycle). 
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The purpose of hazard inspections is to identify defects or hazards to road users. They 
are used to ensure a prioritised and timely intervention in removing the hazard as part of 
Council’s road and bridge assets maintenance program. 
 
Figure 6 
 
Inspection 

Type Hazard Inspection Frequency 

 Link 

Collector 
and 

Strategic 
Route 

Minor Local Unformed Footpaths 

Day time 
inspection 2 months 6 months 8 months Annually Reactive 

Category 1- 
6 months 

 
Category 2- 

Annually 
Night time 
Inspection 6 months Annually 2 yearly 2 yearly N/A N/A 

 

11.0 Condition/Maintenance Targets 
 
The response time to a hazard is based on consideration of the hazard type/severity and 
the hierarchy of the asset. Response time is measured from the time the hazard is 
inspected by Council to the time that the hazard has been rectified. 

11.1 Emergency Response 
 
Emergency response in all circumstances is a maximum of 24 hours and does not 
include major capital works.  
 
An appropriate emergency response could include undertaking maintenance works to 
repair the hazard and/or making the hazard safe utilising one or more of the following: 
 
• Provision of warning signs; 
• Provision of safety barriers; 
• Traffic control action; 
• Diverting traffic around the site; 
• Install temporary speed limit; 
• Lane closure or road closure; 
• Closure of the road to certain vehicles (e.g. load limiting); and 
• Spray painting footpath lips. 
 
 
The requirement for an emergency response will be determined on a case-by-case 
basis, based on a risk assessment. 
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11.2 Intervention and Response Times 
The following is a tabulated list of nominated response times for the repair of identified 
hazards. 
 
Figure 7 
 

Description 

Hierarchy 

Link 
(LK) 

Collector 
and 

Strategic 
(CS) 

Local 
(LL) 

Minor 
(MN) 

Unformed 
(UR) 

Sealed Road Hazards 
Potholes in the traffic lane of a sealed pavement, greater 
than 50 mm in depth or 300 mm diameter 2w 1m 2m P N/A 

Deformations in the traffic lane of a sealed pavement 
greater than 100 mm under a three metre straight edge 1m 1m 3m P N/A 

Edge drops onto an unsealed shoulder greater than 100 
mm depth 1m 1m 3m P N/A 

Debris on a sealed road posing a possible danger to 
motorists, cyclists or pedestrians 1w 2w 3w 3m N/A 

Significantly damaged or missing drainage pit lids, 
surrounds or grates in the traffic lane of a sealed 
pavement 

2w 1m 1m 1m N/A 

Unsealed Road Hazards 
Wheel ruts, shoves and potholes in an unsealed road, 
greater than 150mm depth N/A N/A 2m P N/A 

Surface or formation degraded such that safe travelling 
speed is less than 60% of the safe operating speed for 
the road in good condition over more than 200m 

N/A N/A 2m P N/A 

Debris on an unsealed road posing a possible danger to 
motorists, cyclists or pedestrians N/A N/A 2m 3m N/A 

Traffic Control Hazards 
Traffic Control signs missing, damaged, faded or illegible 2w 1m 1m 1m N/A 
Greater than 5% of guide posts missing or damaged at 
critical locations 1m 3m 3m P  

Safety barriers missing or damaged at critical locations 1m 3m 6m 6m  
Pavement markings which are missing or faded at critical 
locations 1m 3m 3m P N/A 

Roadside Vegetation Hazards 
Vegetation that is obstructing visibility at intersections 
and critical road signs 1m 3m 3m P N/A 

Bridges and Major Culverts Hazards 
Bridge or major culverts creating a possible safety 
hazard to motorists, cyclists or pedestrians 2w 1m 3m P P 

Footpath and Shared Path Hazards 
 High Low    
Sealed or concrete paths with a lip/step greater than 25 
mm in height 3m P    

Sealed or concrete paths with mounding or depressions 
which are greater than 100 mm under a one metre 
straight edge 

3m P    

 
Table 12.1 

Legend: w = week, m = month, P = Refer to Program. 
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12.0 Constraints on Maintenance Activities 
 
In attempting to deliver service targets Council may be faced with constraints that 
prevent the service target being met. The following table indicates some of the 
constraints that may be faced. 
 
Figure 8 
 

Budget 
 

Where the intervention requires significant works or capital works 
Council will take all reasonable steps to make the hazard safe or 
warn the public of the hazard.  The works will then be referred for 
consideration in the Council’s budget.  

Resources and 
Competing 
Demands 

 

Where a number of defects require attention at the same time (or 
if in order to address a defect, another worksite must be left in an 
unfinished condition due to limited available resources) works will 
be prioritised to minimise risk across all sites. 

Climate 
 

Where climate conditions, such as extended drought conditions, 
limit the reported defect being repaired, all reasonable steps to 
make the hazard safe or warn of the hazard will be undertaken. 
The defect will then be placed on a prioritised works program for 
attention when climatic conditions are optimal for rectifying the 
repair/s. 

Material supply 
 

Where there is a delay in obtaining required materials for the 
repair of a defect, such as a missing sign, all reasonable steps 
will be undertaken to source suitable replacements as quickly as 
possible. 

 

13.0 Development and Implementation of 
Maintenance Program. 

 
Council undertakes a full condition survey on all road infrastructure assets at specified 
intervals as detailed in the Road Asset Management Plan. Additional data is also 
gathered from ongoing field inspections and surveillance information.  
 
 
This information along with surveillance inspections, other knowledge and competing 
demands on the asset is used by the Infrastructure Unit in order to prepare, review and 
update short and long term maintenance programs with consideration of competing 
priorities, available resources and maintenance budgets. 
 
The implementation of the maintenance programs is administered using both internal 
and external resources. It includes implementing the longer term plan as well as results 
from surveillance inspections and customer requests. 
 
 
 
 

THE REST OF THIS PAGE HAS BEEN LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 
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14.0 Delegations 
 
The Chief Executive Officer has delegated various functions under the Road 
Management Act and Regulations to respective officers of Council which is detailed in 
an Instrument of Sub-Delegation. This allows Council, through its various members of 
staff, to respond quickly to technical and administrative matters under the Plan. 
 

15.0 “Force Majeure” 
 
Council will make every endeavour to meet all aspects of its Road Management Plan. 
 
However, in the event of natural disasters and other events including, but not limited to, 
fires, floods, droughts and similar, together with human factors, such as lack of Council 
staff or suitably qualified contractors, because of section 83 of the Victorian Wrongs Act 
1958, as amended, Council reserves the right to suspend compliance with its Road 
Management Plan. 
 
In the event that the CEO has to, pursuant to section 83 of the above Act, consider the 
limited financial resources of the Council and its other conflicting priorities, meaning 
Council’s Plan cannot be met, they will confirm in writing with Council’s Officer in Charge 
of its Road Management Plan that some, or all, of the timeframes and response times 
are to be suspended. 
 
Once the events beyond the control of Council have abated, or if the events have partly 
abated, the CEO will write to Council Officers responsible for Council’s Road 
Management Plan and inform them which parts of Council’s Plan are to be reactivated 
and the timeframes for each part of the Plan to be reactivated. 
 

16.0 Review 
 
This Road Management Plan will be reviewed in accordance with sections 303 and 304 
of the Road Management (General) Regulations 2005 every four years, in line with 
Council elections. 
 
Each review will consider the levels of service for road infrastructure on public roads 
maintained by this Council. Particular attention will be given to managing the demand for 
asset maintenance with the level of resources made available through the Council 
budget. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE REST OF THIS PAGE HAS BEEN LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 
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Mount Alexander Shire Council

2014/2015 Financial Report

Note 2015 2014

$'000 $'000

Income

Rates and charges 3 19,592                  18,069                 

Statutory fees and fines 4 518                       544                      

User fees 5 1,672                    1,432                   

Grants - operating 6 9,217                    5,361                   

Grants - capital 6 1,905                    3,356                   

Contributions - monetary 7 203                       240                      

Contributions - non monetary 7 773                       -                      

Found assets 23 868                       -                      

Other income 9 737                       825                      

Total income 35,485                  29,827                 

Expenses

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 8 497                       812                      

Employee costs 10 12,803                  12,218                 

Materials and services 11 10,139                  9,614                   

Bad and doubtful debts 12 76                         30                       

Depreciation and amortisation 13 8,670                    5,635                   

Borrowing costs 14 215                       244                      

Other expenses 15 1,321                    1,299                   

Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures 16 (13)                       41                       

Total expenses 33,708                  29,893                 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 1,777                    (66)                      

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit in future periods

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 29 -                       4,838                   

Impairment of building assets 29 (215)                      (1,180)                 

Total comprehensive result 1,562                    3,592                   

For the Year Ended 30 June 2015
Comprehensive Income Statement

Page 1

The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Mount Alexander Shire Council

2014/2015 Financial Report

Note 2015 2014

 $'000  $'000 

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 17                      7,778                        8,146 

Trade and other receivables 18                      2,743                        5,132 

Other financial assets 19                      4,634                        3,742 

Inventories 20                           78                             71 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 21                         167                           230 

Other assets 22                         560                           518 

Total current assets                    15,960                       17,839 

Non-current assets

Investments in associates and joint ventures 16                         735                           722 

Trade and other receivables 18                           16                             24 

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 23                  229,393                     227,741 

Intangible assets 24                         462                           240 

Total non-current assets                  230,606                     228,727 

Total assets                  246,566                     246,566 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 25                      3,044                        3,769 

Trust funds and deposits 26                         853                        1,758 

Provisions 27                      4,229                        2,949 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 28                         549                        1,610 

Total current liabilities                      8,675                       10,086 

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 27                      3,714                        4,237 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 28                      2,767                        2,395 

Total non-current liabilities                      6,481                        6,632 

Total liabilities                    15,156                       16,718 

Net assets                  231,410                     229,848 

Equity

Accumulated surplus                  102,501                     101,221 

Reserves 29                  128,909                     128,627 

Total Equity                  231,410                     229,848 

As at 30 June 2015
Balance Sheet

Page 2

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Mount Alexander Shire Council

Accumulated Revaluation Other

Total Surplus Reserve Reserves

2015 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at beginning of the financial year 229,848             101,221            117,939                10,688                  

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 1,777                 1,777                -                       -                       

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 29(a) -                    -                    -                       -                       

Impairment of assets 29(a) (215)                  -                    (215)                      -                       

Transfers to other reserves 29(b) -                    (8,694)               -                       8,694                   

Transfers from other reserves 29(b) -                    8,197                -                       (8,197)                  

Balance at end of the financial year 231,410             102,501            117,724                11,185                  

Accumulated Revaluation Other

Total Surplus Reserve Reserves

2014 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at beginning of the financial year 226,256             100,432            114,857                10,967                  

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (66)                    (66)                    -                       -                       

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 29(a) 4,838                 -                    4,838                    -                       

Impairment losses on revalued assets 29(a) (1,180)               -                    (1,180)                   -                       

Write out asset revaluation on disposal of assets 29(a) -                    576                   (576)                      -                       

Transfers to other reserves 29(b) -                    (6,680)               -                       6,680                   

Transfers from other reserves 29(b) -                    6,959                -                       (6,959)                  

Balance at end of the financial year 229,848             101,221            117,939                10,688                  

2014/2015 Financial Report

Statement of Changes in Equity

Page 3

Note

For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

The above statement of changes in equity should be read with the accompanying notes.



Mount Alexander Shire Council

2015 2014
Inflows/ Inflows/

(Outflows) (Outflows)

Note $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Rates and charges 19,470                17,872              

Statutory fees and fines 518                     545                   

User fees 1,672                  1,433                

Grants - operating 13,748                5,377                

Grants - capital -                     3,356                

Contributions - monetary 203                     240                   

Interest  received 518                     380                   

Other receipts  233                     254                   

Net GST refund/payment 1,719                  1,472                

Employee costs (12,506)              (12,027)             

Materials and services (12,784)              (11,272)             

Other payments (1,321)                (1,265)               

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 30 11,470                6,365                

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (9,553)                (8,814)               

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 415                     919                   

Payments for investments (4,634)                (3,742)               

Proceeds from sale of investments 3,742                  2,225                

Trust funds and deposits (repaid) / taken (901)                   851                   

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (10,931)              (8,561)               

Cash flows from financing activities     

Finance costs (217)                   (236)                  

Proceeds from borrowings -                     1,000                

Repayment of borrowings (689)                   (608)                  

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (906)                   156                   

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (368)                   (2,040)               

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 8,146                  10,186              

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year     31 7,778                  8,146                

Financing arrangements 32

Restrictions on cash assets 17

2014/2015 Financial Report

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015
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The above statement of cash flow should be read with the accompanying notes.



Mount Alexander Shire Council

2015 2014

$'000 $'000

Property

Land -                      -                      

Land improvements -                      286                     

Total land -                      286                     

Buildings & improvements 2,857                  3,342                  

Total buildings 2,857                  3,342                  

Total property 2,857                  3,628                  

Plant and equipment

Plant, machinery and equipment 814                     722                     

Fixtures, fittings and furniture 27                       -                      

Computers and telecommunications 155                     284                     

Intangibles 252                     49                       

Total plant and equipment 1,248                  1,055                  

Infrastructure

Roads 1,335                  2,130                  

Bridges 389                     444                     

Footpaths and cycleways 407                     504                     

Drainage 316                     318                     

Kerb and gutter 127                     92                       

Waste management 2,810                  643                     

Total infrastructure 5,384                  4,131                  

Total capital works expenditure 9,489                  8,814                  

Represented by:

New asset expenditure 4,256                  1,851                  

Asset renewal expenditure 4,520                  3,825                  

Asset expansion expenditure 170                     1,286                  

Asset upgrade expenditure 543                     1,852                  

Total capital works expenditure 9,489                  8,814                  

2014/2015 Financial Report

Statement of Capital Works
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

Page 5

The above statement of capital works should be read with the accompanying notes.



Mount Alexander Shire Council

2014/2015 Financial Report

Introduction

Statement of compliance 

Note 1 Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting

 - the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to note 1 (m) )

 - the determination of depreciation for  buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to note 1 (n) )

 - the determination of employee provisions (refer to note 1 (s) )

(b) Changes in accounting policies

There have been no changes in accounting policies from the previous period.

(c) Principles of consolidation

There are no entities consolidated into Council.

(d) Committees of management

(e) Accounting for investments in associates and joint arrangements

Associates

( f) Revenue recognition

Rates and Charges

Statutory fees and fines

User fees

Grants

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015
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The Mount Alexander Shire Council was established by an Order of the Governor in Council on 17 January 1995 and is a body corporate.  The 

Council's main office  is located at the corner of Lyttleton and Lloyd Streets, Castlemaine.  

These financial statements are a general purpose financial report that consists of a Comprehensive  Income Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement 

of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Capital Works and notes accompanying these financial statements. The general 

purpose financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 

Standards Board, the Local Government Act 1989 , and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 .

The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the preparation of these financial statements, whereby assets liabilities, equity, income and 

expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 

from other sources.  The estimates and associated judgements are  based on professional judgement derived from historical experience and 

various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods that are affected by the 

revision.  Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of AAS's that have significant effects on the financial statements 

and estimates relate to:

Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year.  Where appropriate, comparative figures have 

been amended to accord with current presentation, and disclosure has been made of any material changes to comparatives. 

All entities controlled by Council that have material revenues, expenses, assets or liabilities, such as committees of management, have been 

included in this financial report.  Any transactions between these entities and Council have been eliminated in full.

Associates are all entities over which Council has significant influence but not control or joint control. Investments in associates are accounted for 

using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. 

Income is recognised when the Council obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution, it is probable that the economic 

benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the Council and the amount of the contribution can be measured reliably.

Annual rates and charges are recognised as revenues when Council issues annual rates notices.  Supplementary rates are recognised when a 

valuation and reassessment is completed and a supplementary rates notice issued.

Statutory  fees and fines (including parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided, the payment is 

received, or when the penalty has been applied, whichever first occurs.

Grant income is recognised when Council obtains control of the contribution.  This is  normally obtained upon their receipt (or acquittal) or upon 

earlier notification that a grant has been secured, and are valued at their fair value at the date of transfer.

User  fees are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided or the payment is received, whichever first occurs.



Mount Alexander Shire Council

2014/2015 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

Note 1 Significant accounting policies (cont.)

( f) Revenue recognition (cont.)

Contributions

Sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Interest

Interest is recognised as it is earned.

Dividends

Other Income

(g) Fair value measurement

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

(i) Trade and other receivables

(j) Other financial assets

(k) Inventories

Council measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value where required or permitted by Australian Accounting Standards. AASB 13 Fair value 

measurement, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a definition of fair value and a single source of fair value 

measurement and disclosure requirements for use across Australian Accounting Standards.

AASB 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date. Fair value under AASB 13 is an exit price regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 

estimated using another valuation technique. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within a fair value hierarchy, 

described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Where grants or contributions recognised as revenues during the financial year were obtained on condition that they be expended in a particular 

manner or used over a particular period and those conditions were undischarged at balance date, the unused grant or contribution is disclosed in 

note 6.  The note also discloses the amount of unused grant or contribution from prior years that was expended on Council’s operations during the 

current year.

Monetary and non monetary contributions are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control over the contributed asset.  

The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to the buyer.

Dividend revenue is recognised when the Council's right to receive payment is established.

Other income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when Council gains control over the right 

to receive the income.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; 

andLevel 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Council has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and 

risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

In addition, Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the 

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less, 

net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.   A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is 

objective evidence that an impairment has occurred.

Other financial assets are valued at fair value, being market value, at balance date.  Term deposits are measured at amortised cost.  Any 

unrealised gains and losses on holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense.  

Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential.  Inventories are measured at the 

lower of cost and net realisable value.

All other inventories, including land held for sale, are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Where Inventories are  acquired for no 

cost or nominal consideration, they are measured at current replacement cost at the date of acquisition.
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2014/2015 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

Note 1 Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(l) Non-current assets classified as held for sale

(m)  Recognition and measurement of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure, intangibles

Acquisition

Revaluation

Land under roads

(n) Depreciation and amortisation of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment and intangibles

Page  8

A non-current asset classified as held for sale (including disposal groups) is measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs 

to sell, and are not subject to depreciation. Non-current assets, disposal groups and related liabilities and assets are treated as current and 

classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is 

regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset's sale (or disposal group sale) is expected to be completed within 12 months 

from the date of classification.

The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets provided as consideration at the date of 

acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquisition.  Fair value is the amount for which the asset could be exchanged between 

knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction.  

Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction, direct labour, borrowing costs incurred during 

construction, and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed  overheads.

In accordance with Council's policy, the threshold limits detailed in Note 1  have applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset class 

and unless otherwise stated are consistent with the prior year.

Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and equipment, are measured at their fair value, being 

the amount for which the assets could be exchanged between Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other 

than plant and equipment, are measured at their fair value, being the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  At balance date, the Council reviewed the carrying value of the 

individual classes of assets measured at fair value to ensure that each asset materially approximated its fair value.  Where the carrying value 

materially differed from the fair value at balance date, the class of asset was revalued.

Fair value valuations are determined in accordance with a valuation hierarchy.  Changes to the valuation hierarchy will only occur if an external 

change in the restrictions or limitations of use on an asset result in changes to the permissible or practical highest and best use of the asset.  

Further details regarding the fair value hierarchy are disclosed at Note 23, Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment, and infrastructure.

In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a regular basis ranging from 2 to 6 years.  The 

valuation is performed either by experienced council officers or independent experts.

Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve except to the extent that an 

increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been recognised as an expense in which case the increment is 

recognised as revenue up to the amount of the expense.  Revaluation decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior increments 

are included in the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which case the decrement is taken to the reserve to the extent of the 

remaining increments.  Within the same class of assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset.

Council recognises land under roads it controls, that has been acquired since 2008, at fair value.  

Buildings, land improvements, plant and equipment, infrastructure,  and other assets having limited useful lives are systematically depreciated over 

their useful lives to the Council in a manner which reflects consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets.  Estimates of remaining 

useful lives and residual values are made on a regular basis with major asset classes reassessed annually.  Depreciation rates and methods are 

reviewed annually.

Where  assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned distinct useful lives 

and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each component.

Road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that they are assessed as not having a limited useful life.

Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year.

Depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated.
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

Note 1 Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(n) Depreciation and amortisation of property, infrastructure plant and equipment and intangibles (cont'd)

Asset recognition thresholds and depreciation periods Depreciation 

Period

Threshold 

Limit

$'000

Property

   land               15 

   land improvements 10-100 years               15 

Buildings

   buildings 20-100 years               15 

   building improvements 20-100 years               15 

Plant and Equipment

   plant, machinery and equipment 3-10 years                 7 

   fixtures, fittings and furniture 3-5 years                 7 

   computers and telecommunications 2-10 years                 7 

Infrastructure

   road pavements and seals 65 years               15 

   road sealed surfaces 12-25 years               15 

   road unsealed pavements 16-20 years               15 

   road formation and earthworks 200 years               15 
   road kerb, channel and minor culverts 25-100 years               15 

   bridges deck 80 years               15 

   bridges substructure 80-150 years               15 

   footpaths and cycleways 30-80 years               15 

   drainage pits 80 years               15 

   drainage pipes 80-200 years               15 

   waste management 2-3 years               15 

Intangible assets

   intangible assets 5-10 years               25 

(o) Repairs and maintenance

(p) Impairment of assets

(q) Trust funds and deposits

(r) Borrowings

Borrowing costs

Page  9

Routine maintenance, repair costs, and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred.  Where the repair relates to the replacement of a 

component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold the cost is capitalised and depreciated.  The carrying value of the 

replaced asset is expensed. 

At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have 

been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and 

value in use, is compared to the assets carrying value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the 

comprehensive income statement, unless the asset is carried at the revalued amount in which case, the impairment loss is recognised directly 

against the revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the 

revaluation surplus for that same class of asset.

Amounts received as  deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as trust funds until they are returned, transferred in 

accordance with the purpose of the receipt, or forfeited (refer to Note 27).

Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, being the cost of the interest bearing liabilities, net of transaction costs. The measurement basis 

subsequent to initial recognition depends on whether the Council has categorised its interest-bearing liabilities as either financial liabilities 

designated at fair value through the profit and loss, or financial liabilities at amortised cost. Any difference between the initial recognised amount 

and the redemption value is recognised in net result over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the interest bearing liabilities. The Council determines the classification of its interest 

bearing liabilities at initial recognition.

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are capitalised as part of a qualifying 

asset constructed by Council.  Except where specific borrowings are obtained for the purpose of specific asset acquisition, the weighted average 

interest rate applicable to borrowings at balance date, excluding borrowings associated with superannuation, is used to determine the borrowing 

costs to be capitalised.

Borrowing costs include interest on bank overdrafts, interest on borrowings, and finance lease charges.
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

Note 1 Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(s) Employee costs and benefits

Wages and salaries and annual leave

Long service leave

Classification of employee costs

(t) Landfill rehabilitation provision 

(u) Leases

Operating leases

(v) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

(w) Financial guarantees

(x) 

(y) Pending accounting standards

(z)  Rounding
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Contingent assets and contingent liabilities and commitments

Current Liability - unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability even when the council does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months 

because it will not have the unconditional right to defer settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.

The components of this current liability are measured at :

The calculation of employee costs and benefits includes all relevant on-costs and are calculated as follows at reporting date.

Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments are disclosed at their nominal value by way of note and presented inclusive 

of the GST payable.

Certain new AAS's have been issued that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2015 reporting period.  Council has assessed these pending 

standards and has identified that no material impact will flow from the application of these standards in future reporting periods.

Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. Figures in the financial statement may 

not equate due to rounding.

Lease payments for operating leases are required by the accounting standard to be recognised on a straight line basis, rather than expensed in 

the years in which they are incurred.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 

Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and financing activities, 

which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

Financial guarantee contracts are not recognised as a liability in the balance sheet unless the lender has exercised their right to call on the 

guarantee or Council has other reasons to believe that it is probably that that right will be exercised.  Details of guarantees that Council has 

provided, that are not recognised in the balance sheet are disclosed at Note 36 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed by way of a note and, if quantifiable, are 

measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.

   - present value - component that is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months. 

   - nominal value - component that is expected to be wholly settled within 12 months. 

Non-current liability - conditional LSL that has been accrued, where an employee is yet to reach a qualifying term of employment, is disclosed as a 

non - current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of 

service.

This non-current LSL liability is measured at present value. 

Council is obligated to restore Castlemaine Landfill to a particular standard.   The forecast life of the site is based on current estimates of remaining 

capacity and the forecast rate of infill.  The provision for landfill restoration has been calculated based on the present value of the expected cost of 

works to be undertaken.  The expected cost of works has been estimated based on current understanding of work required to reinstate the site to a 

suitable standard. Accordingly, the estimation of the provision required is dependent on the accuracy of the forecast timing of the work, work 

required and related costs.

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave expected to be wholly settled within 

12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits in respect of employee services up to the reporting date, 

classified as current liabilities and measured at their nominal values.

Liabilities that are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits as 

current liabilities, measured at present value of the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate 

expected to apply at the time of settlement.
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Note 2   Budget comparison 

a) Income and Expenditure

Budget Actual Variance

2015 2015 2015

$'000 $'000 $'000 Ref

Income

Rates and charges 19,319              19,592              273

Statutory fees and fines 538                   518                   (20)

User fees 1,729                1,672                (57)

Grants - operating 6,544                9,217                2,673 1

Grants - capital 2,584                1,905                (679) 2

Contributions - monetary 233                   203                   (30) 3

Contributions - non monetary -                        773                   773 4

Found assets -                        868                   868 4

Other income 671                   737                   66                     

Total income 31,618              35,485              3,867                

Expenses

(3) 497                   500 5

Employee costs 13,065              12,803              (262)

Materials and services 8,576                10,139              1,563 6

Bad and doubtful debts 11                     76                     65 7

Depreciation and amortisation 6,178                8,670                2,492 8

Borrowing costs 240                   215                   (25) 9

Other expenses 1,410                1,321                (89)

Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures -                        (13) (13) 10

Total expenses 29,477              33,708              4,231                

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 2,141                1,777                (364)

These notes are prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989  and the Local Government (Planning and 

Reporting) Regulations 2014 .

The budget comparison notes compare Council’s financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with actual performance. The 

Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variances. Council has adopted 

a materiality threshold of 10 percent and $10,000 where further explanation is warranted. Explanations have not been provided for 

variations below the materiality threshold unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature.

The budget figures detailed below are those adopted by Council on 24 June 2014. The Budget was based on assumptions that were 

relevant at the time of adoption of the Budget. Council sets guidelines and parameters for revenue and expense targets in this budget 

in order to meet Council’s planning and financial performance targets for both the short and long-term.  The budget did not reflect any 

changes to equity resulting from asset revaluations, as their impacts were not considered predictable.
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and 

equipment
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Note 2   Budget comparison (cont.)

(i) Explanation of material variations

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Variance 

Ref

The Commonwealth Government brought forward the payment of half of the estimated 2015/2016 Financial Assistance Grant 

allocation to Victorian Councils.  This resulted in an early payment of $2,175,563.

$700,000 of Federal Government funding in relation to Roads to Recovery funding will be received in 2015/2016.  This was due to a 

delay in construction of a number of road projects.

Monetary contributions are often related to the timing of particular projects.  In 2014/2015 the construction of lighting at Camp 

Reserve, Castlemaine was delayed and as a result the contribution from user groups and sports administrators of $130,000 has 

been postponed until 2015/2016.  Conversely, an unbudgeted contribution of $40,000 was received for a road construction, and the 

receipts for open space levy were greater than budget by $56,000.

Non-monetary contributions are recognised when Council gains control over the contribution.  A number of sub-divisions were 

finalised during the year and control of assets (roads, drainage and footpaths) were ‘gifted’ to Council, whilst some roads were found 

as a consequence of a road survey.  Given the difficulty in estimating the timing and value of these non-cash contributions, a budget 

allocation was not made for 2014/2015.
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Depreciation expense is a non-cash item.  $2,262,555 of the variation is represented by landfill amortisation, which is due to the 

timing of works associated with the rehabilitation of the cells at the Castlemaine Landfill (due to commence in 2015/2016).  

Depreciation expense was also higher than budget due to the 2014 increase in property values after shire wide revaluations and 

asset capitalisation.

Borrowing costs were lower than expected as Council borrowed funds in late 2013/2014 through the Local Government Funding 

Vehicle (LGFV), which aggregated borrowing across a number of Victorian Councils, resulting in a reduced interest rate payable.  

The timing of loan interest payable was overstated by $23,186 in the 2014/2015 budget.

During the year Council completed a comprehensive review of all of its buildings and identified $439,117 of buildings that Council no 

longer owns or controls, as well as a net loss on asset disposals of $58,215 was made.

The $13,000 loss accounts for Councils movement in the share of the net assets of the North Central Goldfields Regional Library 

Corporation.

Explanation

This variance has resulted from a number of variances across the organisation.  Due to the timing of construction of a new cell at the 

Castlemaine Landfill additional expenditure was incurred in order to cart waste offsite ($358,000); a $300,000 expense was 

recognised for the return of grant monies received in a prior financial year associated with the Etty Street Kindergarten renovations.  

Use of contractors for staff vacancies which offsets the underspend in employee costs.

Bad and doubtful debts was greater than budget due an additional provision for one doubtful debt of $46,746.
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Note 2  Budget comparison (cont.)

b) Capital Works

Budget Actual Variance

2015 2015 2015

$'000 $'000 $'000 Ref

Property

Land -                    -                    -                    

Land improvements -                    -                    -                    

Total Land -                    -                    -                    

Buildings and improvements 3,819                2,857                (962)                  1

Total Buildings 3,819                2,857                (962)                  

Total Property 3,819                2,857                (962)                  

Plant and Equipment

Plant, machinery and equipment 1,163                814                   (349)                  2

Fixtures, fittings and furniture 24                      27                      3                        

Computers and telecommunications 154                   155                   1                        

Intangibles 236                   252                   16                      

Total Plant and Equipment 1,577                1,248                (329)                  

Infrastructure

Roads 1,820                1,335                (485)                  3

Bridges 750                   389                   (361)                  4

Footpaths and cycleways 621                   407                   (214)                  5

Drainage 100                   316                   216                   6

Kerb and gutter -                    127                   127                   6

Waste management 1,050                2,810                1,760                7

Total Infrastructure 4,341                5,384                1,043                

Total Capital Works Expenditure 9,737                9,489                (248)                  

Represented by:

New asset expenditure 2,896                4,256                1,360                

Asset renewal expenditure 6,841                4,520                (2,321)               

Asset expansion expenditure -                    170                   170                   

Asset upgrade expenditure -                    543                   543                   

Total Capital Works Expenditure 9,737                9,489                (248)                  
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Note 2  Budget comparison (cont.)

(i) Explanation of material variations

Explanation

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Page 14

Variance 

Ref

A number of projects have incurred delays and are expected to be finalised in 2015/2016 including a water supply project at Maldon 

Caravan Park ($188,250), Library Foyer Works ($87,264), Camp Reserve Lighting and Safety Works ($485,250), Taradale Hall Kitchen 

($60,750)  and Thermal Comfort Works ($109,990), as well as projects completed under budget such as the Victory Park Pergola 

($63,629).

A number of Motor Vehicle changeovers did not occur as some vehicles had not met the optimum utilisation requirement, such as 

kilometres travelled.

Pavement rehabilitation at Richards Road ($700,000) was delayed until late 2014/2015 and therefore the majority of funds will be 

expended in 2015/2016.

Bridge construction projects at Fryers Road ($340,000), and Cemetery Road ($227,000) were delayed with a contractor appointed in 

June and construction expected in the first quarter of 2015/2016.

The Maldon-Castlemaine Rail Trail construction did not proceed as a number of approvals from authorities have been delayed.  

Construction is expected in 2015/2016 ($873,000 in total) of which $723,764 of this is a carry forward of 2013/2014 uncompleted works.

Additional spend compared to budget is the allocation of drainage expenditure on capital projects that were budgeted as road projects.  

This may relate to minor kerb, or drains installed as part of road works.

Capital expenditure at the Castlemaine Landfill Waste Facility was greater than budget due to a number of factors including a) $996,000 

uncompleted works was carried forward from the 2013/2014 year; b) bringing forward works on the leachate pond to meet EPA 

requirements; c) completion of remedial and clean up works from historic waste practices that do not meet current standards and d) 

additional costs for audit and supervision associated with b) and c) above.
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2015 2014

$'000 $'000

Note 3 Rates and charges

Council uses capital improved value (CIV) as the basis of valuation of all properties
within the municipal district. The CIV of a property is the value of land and all of its
improvements. 

The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2014/2015 was $3,772,373,410
(2013/2014 $3,537,921,500). The 2014/2015 rate in the CIV dollar was 0.003579
(2013/2014, 0.003576).

General rates              14,394              13,267 

Municipal charge                1,966                1,823 

Waste management charge                3,232                2,979 

Total rates and charges              19,592              18,069 

The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the
municipal district was 1 January 2014, and the valuation was first applied in the rating
year commencing 1 July 2014.

Note 4 Statutory fees and fines

Animal control                   125                   112 

Health registrations                     80                   108 

Planning permit and fees                   185                   149 

Building information certificates                     14                     16 

Land information certificates                     13                     16 

Local laws                     24                     45 

Parking fines                     23                     48 

Other fines                     54                     50 

Total statutory fees and fines                   518                   544 

Note 5 User fees

Leisure centre and recreation 17                   -                      

Home and community care 505                 541                 

Tourism services 84                   119                 

Private works 8                     16                   

Facility hire 34                   35                   

Landfill charges 697                 369                 

Employee vehicle contribution 109                 120                 

Debt collection -                      88                   

Building services 41                   73                   

Other fees and charges 177                 71                   

Total user fees 1,672              1,432              

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015
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2015 2014

$'000 $'000

 Note 6 Grants

Grants were received in respect of the following :

Summary of grants

Commonwealth funded grants                6,603                4,039 

State funded grants                4,519                4,678 

Total              11,122                8,717 

Operating Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government

Victoria Grants Commission                6,521                2,228 

Veterans Affairs                     74                   113 

Other                       8                     28 

Recurrent - State Government

Aged care                1,810                1,700 

School crossing supervisors                     33                     31 

Youth                     60                     60 

Maternal and child health                   151                   147 

Emergency management                     21                   134 

Other                     33                     53 

Total recurrent operating grants                8,711                4,494 

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government

Other                       -                   140 

Non-recurrent - State Government

Emergency management                   206                       3 

Aged care                   132                   104 

Infrastructure                       -                   340 

Recreation                     27                       3 

Youth                     90                     72 

Other                     51                   205 

Total non-recurrent operating grants                   506                   867 

Total operating grants                9,217                5,361 

Capital Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government

Roads to Recovery                       -                1,194 

Total recurrent capital grants                       -                1,194 

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government

Infrastructure                   316 

Recreation facilities & reserves                       -                     20 

Non-recurrent - State Government

Community facilities                     15                       - 

Infrastructure                1,441                1,334 

Recreation facilities & reserves                   449                   492 

Total non-recurrent capital grants                1,905                2,162 

Total capital grants                1,905                3,356 

Conditions on grants

Grants recognised as revenue during the year that were obtained on condition that they
be expended in a specified manner that had not occurred at balance date were: 2,176              2,178              

Grants which were recognised as revenue in prior years and were expended during the
current year in the manner specified by the grantor were: 2,178              1,729              

Net increase/(decrease) in restricted assets resulting from grant revenues for the year: (2)                   449 
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2015 2014

$'000 $'000

Note 7 Contributions

Monetary 203                 240                 

Non-monetary 773                 -                      

Total contributions 976                 240                 

Contributions of non-monetary assets were received in relation to the following asset

classes:

Infrastructure                   773                       - 

Note 8 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Proceeds of sale 415                 919                 

Written down value of disposed assets (849) (1,326)

Written down value of disposed assets held for sale (63) (405)

Total net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (497) (812)

Note 9 Other income

Interest 485                 471                 

Other rent 81                   103                 

Other 171                 251                 

Total other income 737                 825                 

Note 10 (a) Employee costs

Wages and salaries 11,213            10,718            

WorkCover 234                 249                 

Superannuation 1,027              957                 

Fringe benefits tax 85                   88                   

Other 244                 206                 

Total employee costs 12,803            12,218            

Note 10 (b) Superannuation

Council made contributions to the following funds:

Defined benefit fund

Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 77                   43                   

77                   43                   

Employer contributions payable at reporting date -                      43                   

Accumulation funds

Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 935                 907                 

935                 907                 

Employer contributions payable at reporting date -                      11                   

.
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Mount Alexander Shire Council makes all of its employer superannuation contributions in 
respect of its employees to the Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (the Fund).  This Fund 
has two categories of membership, accumulation and defined benefit, each of which is funded 
differently.  Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an expense in the 
Comprehensive Income Statement when they are made or due.
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Note 10 (b) Superannuation (cont.)

Accumulation

Defined Benefit

2015 2014

Note 11 Materials and services $'000 $'000

Contracts and services 6,788              5,429              

Materials 1,216              1,354              

Building maintenance 194                 360                 

Plant costs 328                 359                 

Utilities 518                 542                 

Office administration 331                 629                 

Information technology 357                 355                 

Insurance 346                 378                 

Other 61                   208                 

Total materials and services 10,139            9,614              

Note 12 Bad and doubtful debts

Other debtors 76                   30                   

Total bad and doubtful debts 76                   30                   

Note 13 Depreciation and amortisation

Property 1,178              795                 

Plant and equipment 776                 680                 

Infrastructure 6,687              4,136              

Intangible assets 29                   24                   

Total depreciation and amortisation 8,670              5,635              

Refer to note 23 and 24 for a more detailed breakdown of depreciation and amortisation charges 

Note 14 Borrowing costs

Interest - borrowings 215                 244                 

Total borrowing costs 215                 244                 
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There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the 
participating employers as the defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between the 
participating employers and the only time that the aggregate obligation is allocated to specific 
employers is when a call is made.  As a result, the level of participation of Mount Alexander 
Shire Council in the Fund cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other 
participating employers. Therefore, the Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets 
and costs between employers for the purposes of AASB 119. 

The Fund's accumulation categories, Vision MySuper/Vision Super Saver, receives both 
employer and employee contributions on a progressive basis.  Employer contributions are 
normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings (for the year ended 30 June 2015, 
this was 9.5% required under Superannuation Guarantee legislation (for 2013/2014, this was 
9.25%)).

Mount Alexander Shire Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit 
obligations under the Fund's Defined Benefit category.  This is because the Fund's Defined 
Benefit category is a pooled multi-employer sponsored plan.
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2015 2014

$'000 $'000

Note 15 Other expenses

Auditors' remuneration - VAGO - audit of the financial statements, performance
statement and grant acquittals

32                   30                   

Auditors' remuneration - internal 80                   30                   

Councillors' allowances 184                 174                 

Operating lease rentals 25                   40                   

Other 1,000              1,025              

Total other expenses 1,321              1,299              

Note 16 Investment in associates, joint arrangements and subsidiaries

a) Investments in associates

Investments in associates accounted for by the equity method are:

North Central Goldfields Regional Library Corporation

North Central Goldfields Regional Library Corporation

Background

Council is a member of the North Central Goldfields Regional Library Corporation which
provides library services to the municipalities of City of Greater Bendigo, Macedon
Ranges, Loddon and Mount Alexander Shires. Council's share of the net assets of the
Corporation as at 30 June 2015 was 11.21% (2014, 11.29%).

Fair value of Council's investment in North Central Goldfields Regional Library
Corporation 735                 722                 

Council's share of accumulated surplus/(deficit)

Council's share of accumulated surplus(deficit) at start of year 373                 139                 

% share of equity adjustment (2)                    (2)                    

Reported surplus(deficit) for year 18                   (35)                  

Transfers (to) from reserves (46)                  271                 

Distributions for the year -                      -                      

    Council's share of accumulated surplus(deficit) at end of year 343                 373                 

Council's share of reserves

Council's share of reserves at start of year 70                   343                 

% share of equity adjustment (2)                    (2)                    

Transfers (to) from reserves 46                   (271)                

    Council's share of reserves at end of year 114                 70                   

Movement in carrying value of specific investment

Carrying value of investment at start of year 722                 763                 

Share of surplus(deficit) for year 13                   (41)

% share of equity adjustment -                      -                      

Share of asset revaluation -                      -                      

Distributions received -                      -                      

    Carrying value of investment at end of year 735                 722                 

Council's share of expenditure commitments

Operating commitments 3                     17                   

Capital commitments -                      15                   

    Council's share of expenditure commitments 3                     32                   
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$'000 $'000

Note 17 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand 4                      3                      

Cash at bank 4,422               1,093               

Negotiable certificate of deposit -                       1,089               

Term deposits 3,352               5,961               

7,778               8,146               

Councils cash and cash equivalents are subject to external restrictions that limit amounts

available for discretionary use.  These include:

- Trust funds and deposits (Note 26) 853                  1,758               

-  Statutory reserve funds allocated for specific future purposes (Note 29) 676                  589                  

Total restricted funds 1,529               2,347               

Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents (excluding other financial assets) 6,249               5,799               

Intended allocations

Although not externally restricted the following amounts have been allocated for specific future

purposes by Council:

 - Cash held to fund carried forward capital works 4,547               1,865               

 - Cash held for unspent grants 2,175               2,178               

 - Cash held for other discretionary reserves 3,787               6,056               

Total funds subject to intended allocations 10,509             10,099             

Total available funds (including other financial assets) 374                  (558)

Note 18 Trade and other receivables

Current

Rates debtors 1,593               1,471               

Fire Services Property Levy 162                  162                  

Parking infringement debtors 20                    24                    

Provision for doubtful debts - parking infringements (11) (6)

Pet infringement debtors 11                    12                    

Home and community care 50                    61                    

State Government 314                  2,624               

Other debtors 334                  336                  

Provision for doubtful debts - other debtors (240) (179)

Net GST receivable 511                  627                  

Total current trade and other receivables 2,742               5,132               

Non-current

Special rate scheme 16                    24                    

Total non-current trade and other receivables 16                    24                    

Total trade and other receivables 2,758               5,156               

a) Ageing of receivables

Current (not yet due,  < 30 days) 1,012               996                  

Past due by 30 - 60  days 7                      19                    

Past due by 61 - 90 days 4                      2,548               

Past due by 91 - 120 days 6                      21                    

Past due by 121-150 days 16                    8                      

Past due by over 150 days 211                  116                  

Total trade and other receivables 1,256               3,708               

b) Movement in provisions for doubtful debts

Balance at the beginning of the year 185                  175                  

New provisions recognised during the year 68                    10                    

Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible (2) -                       

Amounts provided for but recovered during the year -                       -                       

Balance at end of year 251                  185                  

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015
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At balance date other debtors representing financial assets were past due but not impaired. These 

amounts relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. 

The ageing of the Council's trade and other receivables (excluding statutory receivables) was:



Mount Alexander Shire Council

2014/2015 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014

$'000 $'000

Note 18 Trade and other receivables (cont.)

c) Ageing of individually impaired receivables

Current (not yet due,  < 30 days) -                       -                       

Past due by 30 - 60  days -                       -                       

Past due by 61 - 90 days -                       -                       

Past due by 91 - 120 days -                       -                       

Past due by 121-150 days -                       -                       

Past due by over 150 days 251                  185                  

Total trade and other receivables 251                  185                  

Note 19 Other financial assets

Term deposits 4,634               3,742               

Total other financial assets 4,634               3,742               

Note 20 Inventories

Inventories held for use 57                    46                    

Inventories held for sale 21                    25                    

Total inventories 78                    71                    

Note 21 Non current assets classified as held for sale

Cost of acquisition 167                  230                  

Total non current assets classified as held for resale 167                  230                  

Note 22 Other assets

Prepayments 119                   111                   

Accrued income 441                   407                   

Total other assets 560                   518                   
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At balance date, other debtors representing financial assets with a nominal value of $390,865 (2014: 

$335,995) were impaired.  The amount of the provision raised against these debtors was $251,217 

(2014: $185,064).  The debts have been impaired as a result of their doubtful collection. Many of the 

long outstanding past due amounts have been lodged with Council's debt collectors or are on payment 

arrangements.

The ageing of receivables that have been individually determined as impaired at reporting date was:
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Note 23   Property, infrastructure plant and equipment

Land and Buildings Note

Land - 

specialised

$'000

Land - non 

specialised

$'000

Land 

improvements

$'000

Total Land

$'000

Buildings - non 

specialised

$'000

Total 

Buildings

$'000

Work In 

Progress

$'000

Total Property

$'000

At fair value 1 July 2014 484            21,970       1,981         24,435        63,145       63,145       811            88,391       

Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2014 -                 -                 (172) (172) (31,177) (31,177) -                 (31,349)

484            21,970       1,809         24,263        31,968       31,968       811            57,042       

Movements in fair value

Acquisition of assets at fair value -                 -                 -                 -                  -                 -                 2,874         2,874         

Fair value of assets disposed -                 (142) -                 (142) (918) (918) -                 (1,060)

Found assets 99              -                 -                 99 -                 -                 -                 99              

Prior year WIP expensed -                 -                 -                 -                  -                 (17) (17)

Transfers -                 -                 -                 -                  3,050         3,050         (3,050) -                 

99 (142) 0 (43) 2,132         2,132         (193) 1,896

Movements in accumulated depreciation

Depreciation and amortisation -                 -                 (126) (126) (1,052) (1,052) -                 (1,178)

Accumulated depreciation of disposals -                 -                 -                 -                  550            550            -                 550            

Impairment losses recognised in operating result -                 -                 -                 -                  (200) (200) -                 (200)

-                 -                 (126) (126) (702) (702) -                 (828)

At fair value 30 June 2015 583            21,828       1,981         24,392        65,277       65,277       618            90,287       

Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2015 -                 -                 (298) (298) (31,879) (31,879) -                 (32,177)
            583        21,828          1,683 24,094        33,398       33,398                   618 58,110       

Plant and Equipment Note

Plant 

machinery and 

equipment

$'000

Fixtures fittings 

and furniture

$'000

Computers and 

telecomms

$'000

Total plant and 

equipment

$'000

At fair value 1 July 2014 5,442         1,007         1,018         7,467          

Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2014 (2,915) (616) (702) (4,233)

2,527         391            316            3,234          

Movements in fair value

Acquisition of assets at fair value 814            27              155            996             

Fair value of assets disposed (963) -                 -                 (963)

(149) 27              155            33

Movements in accumulated depreciation

Depreciation and amortisation (499) (275) -                 (774)

Accumulated depreciation of disposals 675            -                 -                 675             

176            (275) -                 (99)

At fair value 30 June 2015 5,293         1,034         1,173         7,500          

Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2015 (2,739) (891) (702) (4,332)
         2,554 143             471 3,168          
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Note 23  Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

Infrastructure Note

Roads

$'000

Bridges

$'000

Footpaths and 

cycleways

$'000

Drainage

$'000

Waste 

Management

$'000

Kerb and 

channel

$'000

Work In 

Progress

$'000

Total 

Infrastructure

$'000

At fair value 1 July 2014 171,901     41,954       4,806         36,357        6,777         9,180         965            271,940     

Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2014 (66,160) (18,766) (1,218) (10,886) (2,736) (4,710) -                 (104,476)

105,741     23,188       3,588         25,471        4,041         4,470         965            167,464     

Movements in fair value

Acquisition of assets at fair value -                 -                 -                 -                  -                 -                 5,431         5,431

Non monetary acquisitions 857            -                 -                 -                  -                 -                 -                 857

Provision for landfill rehabiliation -                 -                 -                 -                  551            -                 -                 551

Fair value of assets disposed (52) (102) (22) -                  -                 -                 -                 (176)

Found assets 1,067 -                 -                 -                  -                 -                 -                 1,067

Prior year WIP expensed -                 -                 -                 -                  -                 -                 (47) (47)

Other transfers -                 -                 -                 -                  -                 -                 (72) (72)

Transfers 929            438            256            273             2,798         127            (4,821) -                 

2,801         336            234            273             3,349         127            491 7,611         

Movements in accumulated depreciation

Depreciation and amortisation (2,480) (393) (150) (277) (3,210) (179) -                 (6,689)

Accumulated depreciation of disposals 9                97              18              -                  -                 -                 -                 124

Non monetary acquisitions (83) -                 -                 -                  -                 -                 -                 (83)

Found assets (298) -                 -                 -                  -                 -                 -                 (298)

Impairment losses recognised in operating result -                 (15) -                 -                  -                 -                 -                 (15)

(2,852) (311) (132) (277) (3,210) (179) -                 (6,961)

At fair value 30 June 2015 174,702     42,290       5,040         36,630        10,126       9,307         1,456         279,551

Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2015 (69,012) (19,077) (1,350) (11,163) (5,946) (4,889) -                 (111,437)
     105,690        23,213          3,690          25,467          4,180          4,418          1,456      168,114 

Valuation of land and buildings 

Valuation of land and buildings were undertaken by a qualified independent valuer Mr Ian Gumley of LG Valuations.  The valuation 

of land and buildings is at fair value, being market value based on highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning 

provisions.  Where land use is restricted through existing planning provisions the valuation is reduced to reflect this limitation.  This 

adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation.  The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement.  

Specialised land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or un-serviced) characteristics, 

access rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of infrastructure assets and services.  This adjustment is an 

unobservable input in the valuation.  The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement.

Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land under roads will have a significant impact on the fair value of 

these assets.

Details of the Council’s  land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as  at 30 June 2015 are as follows:
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$000 $000 $000 $000

Specialised Land -                           -                           583                     583           

Land -                           3,514                  18,314                21,828     

Land Improvements -                           744                     939                     1,683       

Buildings -                           835                     32,564                33,399     

-                           5,093                  52,400                57,493     
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Note 23   Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

Land and Buildings Note

Land - 

specialised

$'000

Land - non 

specialised

$'000

Land 

improvements

$'000

Total Land

$'000

Buildings - non 

specialised

$'000

Total 

Buildings

$'000

Work In 

Progress

$'000

Total Property

$'000

At fair value 1 July 2013 484            21,562       1,537         23,583        54,184       54,184       960            78,727       

Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2013 -                 -                 (155) (155) (28,852) (28,852) -                 (29,007)

484            21,562       1,382         23,428        25,332       25,332       960            49,720       

Movements in fair value

Acquisition of assets at fair value -                 -                 -                 -                  -                 -                 3,628         3,628         

Revaluation increments/decrements -                 996            333            1,329          7,027         7,027         -                 8,357         

Fair value of assets disposed -                 (588) -                 (588) (377) (377) -                 (965)

Impairment losses recognised in operating result -                 -                 -                 -                  (1,180) (1,180) -                 (1,180)

Trnasfer to land held for resale -                 -                 (175) (175) -                 -                 -                 (175)

Transfers -                 -                 286 286             3,491         3,491         (3,777) 0

-                 408 444 852             8,961         8,961         (149) 9,664

Movements in accumulated depreciation

Depreciation and amortisation -                 -                 (68) (68) (727) (727) -                 (795)

Accumulated depreciation of disposals -                 -                 -                 -                  30              30              -                 30              

Revaluation increments/decrements -                 -                 51 51 (1,628) (1,628) -                 (1,577)

-                 -                 (17) (17) (2,325) (2,325) -                 (2,342)

At fair value 30 June 2014 484            21,970       1,981         24,435        63,145       63,145       811            88,391       

Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2014 -                 -                 (172) (172) (31,177) (31,177) -                 (31,349)
            484        21,970          1,809 24,263        31,968       31,968                   811 57,042       

Plant and Equipment Note

Plant 

machinery and 

equipment

$'000

Fixtures fittings 

and furniture

$'000

Computers and 

telecomms

$'000

Total plant and 

equipment

$'000

At fair value 1 July 2013 5,282         890            853            7,025          

Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2013 (2,830) (571) (518) (3,919)

2,452         319            335            3,106          

Movements in fair value

Acquisition of assets at fair value 721            119            165            1,005          

Fair value of assets disposed (512) (3) -                 (515)

Other transfers (49) -                 -                 (49)

160 116            165            441

Movements in accumulated depreciation

Depreciation and amortisation (448) (47) (184) (679)

Accumulated depreciation of disposals 344            2                -                 346             

Other transfers 19              -                 -                 19               

(85) (45) (184) (314)

At fair value 30 June 2014 5,442         1,007         1,018         7,467          

Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2014 (2,915) (616) (702) (4,233)
         2,527 391             316 3,234          
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Note 23  Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

Infrastructure Note

Roads

$'000

Bridges

$'000

Footpaths and 

cycleways

$'000

Drainage

$'000

Waste 

Management

$'000

Kerb and 

channel

$'000

Work In 

Progress

$'000

Total 

Infrastructure

$'000

At fair value 1 July 2013 171,806     39,948       4,463         36,247        3,846         9,088         292            265,690     

Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2013 (64,912) (14,618) (1,149) (10,818) (2,371) (4,534) -                 (98,402)

106,894     25,330       3,314         25,429        1,475         4,554         292            167,288     

Movements in fair value

Acquisition of assets at fair value -                 -                 -                 -                  -                 -                 1,897         1,897

Provision for landfill rehabilitation -                 -                 -                 -                  2,347         -                 -                 2,347

Revaluation increments/decrements -                 2,596         -                 -                  -                 -                 -                 2,596

Fair value of assets disposed -                 (590) -                 -                  -                 -                 -                 (590)

Transfers 95              -                 343            110             584            92              (1,224) -                 

95              2,006         343            110             2,931         92              673 6,250         

Movements in accumulated depreciation

Depreciation and amortisation (2,797) (392) (129) (277) (365) (176) -                 (4,136)

Acquisition of assets at fair value 1,549         416            60              209 -                 -                 -                 2,234

Accumulated depreciation of disposals -                 366 -                 -                  -                 -                 -                 366

Revaluation increments/decrements -                 (4,538) -                 -                  -                 -                 -                 (4,538)

(1,248) (4,148) (69) (68) (365) (176) -                 (6,074)

At fair value 30 June 2014 171,901     41,954       4,806         36,357        6,777         9,180         965            271,940

Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2014 (66,160) (18,766) (1,218) (10,886) (2,736) (4,710) -                 (104,476)
     105,741        23,188          3,588          25,471          4,041          4,470             965      167,464 
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Note 23 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

Valuation of infrastructure

Description of significant unobservable inputs into level 3 valuations

2015 2014

$'000 $'000

Reconciliation of specialised land

Land under roads 583         484         

Total specialised land 583         484         

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015
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Valuation of infrastructure assets has been determined in accordance with an independent valuation 

undertaken by Peter Maloney Dip C E C.E. MIE Aust.

The valuation is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as at the date of 

valuation.

Details of the Council’s infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy as

 at 30 June 2015 are as follows:

Specialised land and land under roads is valued using a market based direct comparison technique.  
Significant unobservable inputs include the extent and impact of restriction of use and the market cost of land 
per square metre.  The extent and impact of restrictions on use varies and results in a reduction to 
surrounding land values between 5% and 95%.  The market value of land varies significantly depending on 
the location of the land and the current market conditions.  Currently land values range between $1 and $185 
per square metre.  

Specialised buildings are valued using a depreciated replacement cost technique.  Significant 
unobservable inputs include the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of buildings.  Current 
replacement costs is calculated on a square metre basis and ranges from $165 to $3,081 per square metre.  
The remaining useful lives of buildings are determined on the basis of the current condition of buildings and 

vary from 20 years to 100 years.  Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any 
increase or decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation.  Useful lives of buildings are sensitive to 
changes in expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of buildings.

Infrastructure assets  are valued based on the depreciated replacement cost.   Significant unobservable 

inputs include the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of infrastructure.  The remaining useful 

lives of infrastructure assets are determined on the basis of the current condition of the asset and vary from 
12 years to 200 years.  Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or 

decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation.  Useful lives of infrastructure are sensitive to changes in 

use, expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of infrastructure assets.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

$'000 $'000 $'000  

Roads -                           -                           105,690              

Bridges -                           -                           23,213                

Footpaths and cycleways -                           -                           3,690                  

Drainage -                           -                           25,467                

Waste Management -                           -                           4,180                  

Other Infrastructure -                           -                           4,418                  

Total -                           -                           166,658              
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2015 2014

$'000 $'000

Note 24 Intangible assets

Software 462             240             

Total intangible assets 462             240             

Software

$'000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 July 2013              242 

Software purchases                49 

Balance at 1 July 2014              291 

Software purchases              252 

Balance at 30 June 2015              543 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

Balance at 1 July 2013                27 

Amortisation expense                24 

Balance at 1 July 2014                51 

Amortisation expense                30 

Balance at 30 June 2015                81 

Net book value at 30 June 2014              240 

Net book value at 30 June 2015              462 

2015 2014

$'000 $'000

Note 25 Trade and other payables

Trade payables 2,581          2,455          

Income received in advance 2                 1                 

Loan interest 10               12               

Accrued expenses 451             1,301          

Total trade and other payables 3,044          3,769          

Note 26 Trust funds and deposits

Refundable deposits 33               390             

Fire services levy 296             922             

Retention amounts 256             -                 

Building levy 4                 4                 

Central Victorian PCP 207             388             

Castlemaine and Maldon heritage fund 34               34               

Unclaimed monies 1                 1                 

Other refundable deposits 22               19               

Total trust funds and deposits 853             1,758          

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015
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Purpose and nature of major items

Refundable deposits - Deposits are taken by council as a form of surety in a number of circumstances, including in relation to building 
works, tender deposits, contract deposits and the use of civic facilities

Fire Service Levy - Council is the collection agent for fire services levy on behalf of the State Government.  Council remits amounts 
received on a quarterly basis.  Amounts disclosed here will be remitted to the state government in line with that process.

Retention Amounts - Council has a contractual right to retain certain amounts until a contractor has met certain requirements or a 
related warrant or defect period has elapsed.  Subject to the satisfactory completion of the contractual obligations, or the elapsing of 
time, these amounts will be paid to the relevant contractor in line with Council's contractual obligations.

Central Victorian health alliance PCP - Funds that are held by Council on behalf of the partnership to administer certain Health and 
Community Services.
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Note 27 Provisions

Landfill 

restoration

Employee 

provisions

Total

2015 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Balance at beginning of the financial year 4,957 2,230 7,187

Additional provisions 736 1,267 2,003

Amounts used (256) (1,028) (1,284)

Increase in the discounted amount arising because of
time and the effect of any change in the discount rate (19) 56 37

Balance at the end of the financial year 5,418            2,525          7,943          

2014

Balance at beginning of the financial year 2,709            2,039          4,748          

Additional provisions 2,248            1,320          3,568          

Amounts used -                   (1,156) (1,156)

Increase in the discounted amount arising because of
time and the effect of any change in the discount rate -                   27               27               

Balance at the end of the financial year 4,957            2,230          7,187          

2015 2014

$'000 $'000

(a) Employee provisions

Annual leave 577             615             

Long service leave 252             252             

Rostered days off 31               30               

860             897             

Annual leave 45               45               

Long service leave 1,342          1,007          

1,387          1,052          

Total current provisions 2,247          1,949          

Non-current 

Long service leave 278             281             

Total non-current provisions 278             281             

Current 2,247          1,949          

Non-current 278             281             

2,525          2,230          

The following assumptions were adopted in measuring the present value of employee benefits:

Weighted average increase in employee costs 3.81% 3.85%

Weighted average discount rates 2.53% 3.17%

Weighted average settlement period 13 years 13 years

(b) Land fill restoration

Current 1,982          1,000          

Non-current 3,436          3,957          

5,418          4,957          

The following assumptions were adopted in measuring the present value of landfill rehabilitation:

Weighted average increase in costs 1.30% 4.44%

Weighted average discount rates 1.43% 1.61%

Weighted average settlement period 3 yrs 3 yrs

Current provisions expected to be wholly settled after 12 months
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Total aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions

Aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions:

Current provisions expected to be wholly settled within 12 
months
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2015 2014

$'000 $'000

Note 28 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Current

Borrowings - secured 549             1,610          

549             1,610          

Non-current

Borrowings - secured 2,767          2,395          

2,767          2,395          

Total 3,316          4,005          

a) The maturity profile for Council's borrowings is:

Not later than one year 549             1,610          

Later than one year and not later than five years 1,407          1,660          

Later than five years 1,360          735             

3,316          4,005          

c) Aggregate carrying amount of interest-bearing loans
and borrowings:

Current 549             1,610          

Non-current 2,767          2,395          

3,316          4,005          
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Note 29
Balance at

beginning of 

reporting 

period

Increment 

(decrement) Impairment

Transfer to 

accumulated 

surplus

Balance at end of 

reporting period

(a) Asset revaluation reserves $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2015

Property

Land 14,949           -                 -                   -              14,949               

Land improvements 384                -                 -                   -              384                     

Buildings 15,882           -                 (200)                 -              15,682               

31,215           -                 (200)                 -              31,015               

Infrastructure 86,724           -                 (15)                   -              86,709               

Total asset revaluation reserves 117,939         -                 (215)                 -              117,724             

2014

Property

Land 14,266           996                -                   (313)            14,949               

Land Improvements -                 384                -                   -              384                     

Buildings 11,925           5,400             (1,180)              (263)            15,882               

26,191           6,780             (1,180)              (576)            31,215               

Infrastructure 88,666           (1,942)            -                   -              86,724               

Total asset revaluation reserves 114,857         4,838             (1,180)              (576)            117,939             

Balance at

beginning of 

reporting 

period

Transfer from 

accumulated 

surplus

Transfer to

 accumulated 

surplus

Balance at end of 

reporting period

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(b) Other reserves

2015

Business Park reserve -                 (66)                 66                     -                     

Campbells Creek section 86 reserve 60                  -                 -                   60                       

Car parking reserve* 19                  -                 -                   19                       

Drainage reserve* 18                  -                 -                   18                       

Energy/Water saving reserve 62                  (5)                   28                     85                       

Former Maldon Courthouse reserve 15                  -                 -                   15                       

General reserve 326                (393)               67                     -                     

Gravel pit rehabilitation service 39                  -                 -                   39                       

Heritage Advisory Committee reserve 2                    -                 -                   2                         

Market building reserve 14                  -                 2                       16                       

Motor vehicles reserve 41                  (333)               450                   158                     

Parkland/open space reserve* 552                -                 87                     639                     

Plant replacement reserve 331                (464)               321                   188                     

Sale of land under s181 reserve 89                  -                 -                   89                       

Swimming pool reserve 3,292             (162)               -                   3,130                  

Tree planting reserve 10                  (5)                   -                   5                         

Uncompleted works reserve 1,865             (1,866)            4,548               4,547                  

Unspent grants reserve 2,178             (2,179)            2,176               2,175                  

Waste reserve 1,775             (2,724)            949                   -                     

Total Other reserves 10,688           (8,197)            8,694               11,185               

* represents statutory reserves (restricted assets)

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record the increased (net) value of Council's assets over time.

Reserves
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Note 29

Balance at

beginning of 

reporting 

period

Transfer from 

accumulated 

surplus

Transfer to

 accumulated 

surplus

Balance at end of 

reporting period

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2014

Business Park reserve -                 200                (200)                 -                     

Campbells Creek section86 reserve 60                  -                 -                   60                       

Car parking reserve* 19                  -                 -                   19                       

Drainage reserve* 18                  -                 -                   18                       

Energy/Water saving reserve 62                  -                 -                   62                       

Former Maldon Courthouse reserve 15                  -                 -                   15                       

General reserve 326                200                (200)                 326                     

Gravel pit rehabilitation service 9                    30                  -                   39                       

Heritage Advisory Committee reserve 2                    -                 -                   2                         

Market building reserve 12                  2                     -                   14                       

Motor vehicles reserve -                 384                (343)                 41                       

Parkland/open space reserve* 435                117                -                   552                     

Plant replacement reserve 462                197                (328)                 331                     

Sale of land under s181 reserve 89                  -                 -                   89                       

Swimming pool reserve 2,768             524                -                   3,292                  

Tree planting reserve 5                    5                     -                   10                       

Uncompleted works reserve 2,920             1,866             (2,921)              1,865                  

Unspent grants reserve 2,287             2,179             (2,288)              2,178                  

Waste reserve 1,478             977                (680)                 1,775                  

Total Other reserves 10,967           6,680             (6,959)              10,688               

The purposes of these reserves are as follows:
Business Park (previously Industrial land) reserve 

Funds set aside to provide for the continued 
development of Council owned industrial zoned land.

Campbell’s Creek Section 86 committee reserve Motor vehicle reserve

Funds set aside to undertake works at Campbell’s 
Creek recreation reserve.

Car parking reserve  Parkland/open spaces reserve

Funds set aside for the creation of additional car 

parking.  These funds were paid to Council in lieu of 
sufficient car parking areas being included in private 
developments.

Drainage reserve Plant replacement reserve 

Funds for the provision of future drainage 
infrastructure within the Shire.

Energy/water saving reserve Sale of land under Section 181

Funds set aside for the undertaking of works on 

Council property which reduces future energy or water 
usage.

Former Maldon Courthouse Swimming pool reserve  

Funds set aside for the future repair and maintenance 
needs.

General reserve Tree planting reserve 

Funds set aside for the future provision of Council 
purchases or construction of assets.

Gravel Pit rehabilitation reserve Unspent grants reserve

Funds set aside for the future rehabilitation works at 
Council’s gravel pit.

Heritage Advisory Committee reserve Waste reserve 

Funds provided to Council to assist with Heritage 
Housing.  

Funds set aside for future capital works on swimming pools.

Market Building reserve 

Funds that are set aside for the future capital works at the 
Market Building.
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Reserves (cont)

Funds set aside for the planting of trees associated with 

subdivisions.

Grant fund provided to Council with conditions on how they are 
spent that remain unspent at end of year. 

Funds set aside to provide for the capital improvements at the 

Castlemaine landfill.

Funds set aside for future changeover of motor vehicles.

Funds to provide for future recreational infrastructure within the 

Shire.

To provide funds for the future purchase of plant and equipment 
and for extraordinary maintenance costs.

Surplus unclaimed money after properties sold to collect unpaid 

rates. To be held in reserve until statutory claim period lapses.
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2015 2014

$'000 $'000

Note 30

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 1,777                 (66)                     

Depreciation/amortisation 8,670                 5,635                 

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 497                    812                    

Gain on landfill provision (19)                     (99)                     

Prior year WIP expensed 64                      41                      

Contributions - Non-monetary assets (773)                   -                     

Found assets (868)                   -                     

Borrowing costs 215                    244                    

Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures (13)                     41                      

Change in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 2,519                 (1,539)                

(Increase)/decrease in other assets (42)                     1,062                 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (725)                   183                    

(Increase)/decrease in rates receivables (122)                   (194)                   

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (7)                       53                      

Increase/(decrease) in employee provisions 297                    192                    

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 11,470               6,365                 

Note 31 Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents (see note 17) 7,778                 8,146                 

Less bank overdraft -                     -                     

7,778                 8,146                 

Note 32 Financing arrangements

Bank overdraft 500                    500                    

Used facilities -                     -                     

Unused facilities 500                    500                    

Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus/(deficit)
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Note 33 Commitments

2015
Not later than 1 

year

Later than 1 year 

and not later than 

2 years

Later than 2 years 

and not later than 

5 years

Later than 5 

years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Operating

Animal control services 123                -                     -                     -               123              

Consultancies 283                -                     -                     -               283              

Debt management services -                -                     -                     -               -               

Delivered meals 184                -                     -                     -               184              

Electrical supply 127                -                     -                     -               127              

IT and software licenses 131                27                       80                       -               238              

Heritage advisory services -                -                     -                     -               -               

Insurance -                -                     -                     -               -               

Landfill 652                989                     2,473                 -               4,114           

Maintenance services 398                263                     -                     -               661              

Total 1,898            1,279                 2,553                 -               5,730           

Capital

Buildings 418                -                     -                     -               418              

Bridges 581                -                     -                     -               581              

Roads 801                -                     -                     -               801              

Landfill -                -                     -                     -               -               

Drainage -                -                     -                     -               -               

Total 1,800            -                     -                     -               1,800           

2014
Not later than 1 

year

Later than 1 year 

and not later than 

2 years

Later than 2 years 

and not later than 

5 years

Later than 5 

years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Operating

Animal control services 24                  -                     -                     -               24                

Consultancies 150                -                     -                     -               150              

Debt management services 75                  31                       -                     -               106              

Delivered meals 164                168                     -                     -               332              

Electrical supply 124                127                     -                     -               251              

IT and software licenses 130                113                     178                     -               421              

Heritage advisory services 27                  -                     -                     -               27                

Insurance 147                -                     -                     -               147              

Landfill and Diamond Gully structure plan 78                  49                       -                     -               127              

Landfill management 397                -                     -                     -               397              

Maintenance services 75                  10                       10                       -               95                

Total 1,391            498                     188                     -               2,077           

Capital

Buildings 314                -                     -                     -               314              

Bridges 93                  -                     -                     -               93                

Roads 1,074            25                       13                       -               1,112           

Landfill 1,822            -                     -                     -               1,822           

Drainage 87                  -                     -                     -               87                

Total 3,390            25                       13                       -               3,428           

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

The Council has entered into the following commitments
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2015 2014

$'000 $'000

Note 34 Operating leases

(a) Operating lease commitments

At the reporting date, the Council had the following obligations under non-cancellable 

operating leases for the lease of equipment and land and buildings for use within 

Council's activities (these obligations are not recognised as liabilities):

Not later than one year 17                  23                  

Later than one year and not later than five years 13                  3                    

Later than five years 27                  -                 

57                  26                  

Note 35 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent assets

Contingent liabilities
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1.  Council has a contingent asset under its contract with a supplier to compensate Council for the costs involved in relocating 

underground services unidentified by the consultant. Costs are currently being negotiated between parties.

1.  Council has a contingent liability under its agreement with Wheelie Waste to provide a guarantee against default for Wheelie 

Waste's financing agreement for garbage bins included in the contract.  The value of the contingent liability amortises over the 

life of the contract.  The value of the contingent liability at 30 June 2015 is $112,420 (30 June 2014, $224,840).

2.  Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make additional 

contributions to the scheme to ensure that the liabilities of the fund are covered by the assets of the fund.  As a result of the 

volatility in financial markets the likelihood of making such contributions in future periods exists.  At this point in time it is not 

known if additional contributions will be required, their timing or potential amount. Please refer to Note 39.

3.  A potential liability exists for costs associated with de-contaminating waste sand dumped at the Castlemaine Rifle Range, if 

the polluter defaults on the requirements that may be imposed by the EPA.  The extent of the financial liability to decontaminate 

the site and any associated legal costs is unable to be determined at balance date.

4.  A rehabilitation bond has been issued for the restoration of the Tarilta gravel pit.  The bank guarantee is for $23,500 to the 

Minister of Agriculture and Resources.
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Note 36

(b) Market risk

Interest rate risk

 - diversification of investment product,

 - monitoring of return on investment,

 - benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget.

(c) Credit risk

 - we have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities we deal with; 

 - we may require collateral where appropriate; and

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.

Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause us to 

make a financial loss. We have exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included in our balance sheet. To help 

manage this risk:

Receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the ratepayer, business and government sectors. 

Credit risk associated with the Council's financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is secured by a charge over 

the rateable property. 

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will 

fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Our interest rate liability risk arises primarily from long term loans and 

borrowings at fixed rates which exposes us to fair value interest rate risk.  Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the 

future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Council has minimal 

exposure to cash flow interest rate risk through its cash and deposits that are at floating rate. 

Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the  Local Government Act 1989 . We 

manage interest rate risk by adopting an investment policy that ensures:

There has been no significant change in the Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing 

interest rate risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.

Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an impact on the Council's year end 

result.

 - we only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in our investment 

policy.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any 

provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. Council 

does not hold any collateral.

We may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the balance sheet, such as when we 

provide a guarantee for another party. Details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 35.

The Council's principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables (excluding statutory 

receivables), payables (excluding statutory payables) and bank borrowings.  'Details of the significant accounting policies 

and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and 

expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument is disclosed in 

Note 1 of the financial statements.  'Risk management is carried out by senior management under policies approved by 

the Council. These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure to Council and appropriate procedures, 

controls and risk minimisation.

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

Financial Instruments

(a)  Objectives and policies
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Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of our financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes 

in market prices.  The Council's exposures to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant 

exposure to other price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk. 
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Note 36

(d) Liquidity risk

To help reduce these risks Council:

 - have a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be maintained;

 - have readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place;

 - have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid instruments;

 - monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis; and

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value

e) Fair value

(f) Sensitivity disclosure analysis

 - A parallel shift of + 0.5% and -0.25% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 3.02%.
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Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge and 

experience of the financial markets,  Council believes the following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the next 12 

These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of Council's financial assets and liabilities, nor will they 

have a material impact on the results of Council's operations.

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of our operational liquidity requirements or we will not have sufficient funds 

to settle a transaction when required, we will be forced to sell a financial asset at below value or may be unable to settle or 

recover a financial asset.

The Council's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed in the face of the 

balance sheet and the amounts related to financial guarantees, and is deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data and 

current assessment of risk.

There has been no significant change in Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing liquidity 

risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.

With the exception of borrowings, all financial liabilities are expected to be settled within normal terms of trade.  Details of 

the maturity profile for borrowings are disclosed at Note 28.

Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value hierarchy , Council's financial 

assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost. 

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amount of financial instruments reflect their fair value

Fair value hierarchy

 - set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan principal repayments 

to rate revenue.

Financial Instruments (cont.)
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Note 37 Related party transactions

(i)  Responsible Persons

Councillors Councillor Christine Henderson (Elected 1/12/2008 , Mayor 11/11/2014 until current)

Councillor Michael Redden (Elected 1/12/2008,   Mayor 1/11/2012 to 11/11/2014)

Councillor Tony Bell (Elected 1/11/2012)

Councillor Chris Cole (Elected 1/11/2012)

Councillor Sharon Telford (Elected 1/11/2012)

Councillor Anthony Cordy (Elected 20/5/2014)

Councillor Bronwen Machin (Elected 13/10/2014)

Councillor Jessica Howard (Elected 1/11/2012 to 12/10/2014)

Chief Executive Officer Phil Rowland

(ii) Remuneration of Responsible Persons

2015 2014
No. No.

1                      1                           

1                      6                           

4                      -                            

1                      -                            

1                      -                            

-                       1                           

$240,000 - $249,000 1                      1                           

9                      9                           

$'000 $'000

427                  421                       

(iii) 

The number of Senior Officers other than the Responsible Persons, are shown below in their relevant income bands:

2015 2014

No. No.

3                      -                            

-                       -                            

-                       -                            

2                      -                            

-                       1                           

1                      2                           

6                      3                           

$'000 $'000

595                  516                       

(iv)

A Senior Officer other than a Responsible Person, is an officer of Council who: 

a) has management responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief Executive; or

Total Remuneration for the reporting year for Senior Officers included above, amounted to

b) whose total annual remuneration exceeds $136,000

$170,000 - $179,999

Below $136,000

Income Range:

$136,000 - $139,999

$140,000 - $149,999

$150,000 - $159,999

$160,000 - $169,999

Responsible persons retirement benefits

The aggregate amount paid during the reporting period by Council in connection with the 

retirement of responsible persons was nil (2014 - nil)
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$10,000 - $19,999

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

Names of persons holding the position of a Responsible Person at the Council at any time 

during the year are:

The numbers of Responsible Persons whose total remuneration from Council and any 

related entities, excluding retirement benefits, fall within the following bands:

$1 - $9,999

Senior Officers Remuneration

$20,000 - $29,999

$30,000 - $39,999

$40,000 - $49,999

$50,000 - $59,999

Total Remuneration for the reporting year for Responsible Persons included above 

amounted to:
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Note 37 Related party transactions (cont.)

(v)

(vi)

Note 38 Events occurring after balance date 

There are no known events that should be disclosed in the financial report that have occurred after 30 June 2015.
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Loans to responsible persons

The aggregate amount of loans in existence at balance date that have been made, 

guaranteed or secured by the council to a responsible person of the council, or a related 

party of a responsible person are as follows:

Nil

Transactions with responsible persons

During the period Council entered into the following transactions  with responsible persons 

or related parties of responsible persons.

Nil
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Note 39 Superannuation

Funding arrangements

Net investment returns 7.5% pa

Salary information 4.25% pa

Price inflation (COI) 2.75% pa

Employer contributions

Regular contributions

Funding calls

Mount Alexander Shire Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit 

obligations under the Fund's Defined Benefit category. This is because the Fund's Defined Benefit 

category is a pooled multi-employer sponsored plan.

Page 39

There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the participating 

employers as the defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between the participating employers 

and the only time that the aggregate obligation is allocated to specific employers is when a call is 

made. As a result, the level of participation of Mount Alexander Shire Council in the Fund cannot be 

measured as a percentage compared with other participating employers. Therefore, the Actuary is 

unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers for the purposes of AASB 

119.

If the defined benefit category is in an unsatisfactory financial position at actuarial investigation or the 

defined benefit category‘s VBI is below its shortfall limit at any time other than the date of the actuarial 

investigation, the defined benefit category has a shortfall for the purposes of SPS 160 and the Fund is 

required to put a plan in place so that the shortfall is fully funded within three years of the shortfall 

occurring.  The Fund monitors its VBI on a quarterly basis and the Fund has set its shortfall limit at 

97%.

In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above requirement, 

the Fund’s participating employers (including Mount Alexander Shire Council) are required to make an 

employer contribution to cover the shortfall.  

Using the agreed methodology, the shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating 

employers based on the pre-1 July 1993 and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund’s 

defined benefit category, together with the employer’s payroll at 30 June 1993 and at the date the 

shortfall has been calculated. 

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015

The Fund’s latest actuarial investigation was held as at 30 June 2014 and it was determined that the vested 

benefit index (VBI) of the defined benefit category of which Mount Alexander Shire Council is a contributing 

employer was 103.4%.  To determine the VBI, the fund Actuary used the following long-term assumptions:

Vision Super has advised that the estimated VBI at June 2015 was 105.8.%.

The VBI is to be used as the primary funding indicator.  Because the VBI was above 100%, the actuarial 

investigation determined the defined benefit category was in a satisfactory financial position and that no 

change was necessary to the defined benefit category’s funding arrangements from prior years.

Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make 

additional contributions to the scheme to ensure that the liabilities of the fund are covered by the assets of the 

fund.  As a result of the volatility in financial markets the likelihood of making such contributions in future 

periods exists.  At this point in time it is not known if additional contributions will be required, their timing or 

potential amount.

Mount Alexander Shire Council makes employer contributions to the defined benefit category of the Fund at 

rates determined by the Trustee on the advice of the Fund's Actuary.  
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Note 39 Superannuation (cont)

Note 39 (b)

There were no contributions outstanding and no loans issued from or to the above schemes as at 30 June 2015.

The expected contributions to be paid in the defined benefit category of Vision Super for the year ending 30 

June 2016 is $90,000.
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Contributions by Mount Alexander Shire Council (excluding any unfunded liability payments) to the above 

superannuation plans for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 are detailed below:

The VBI surplus means that the market value of the fund’s assets supporting the defined benefit obligations 

exceed the vested benefits that the defined benefit members would have been entitled to if they had all exited 

on 30 June 2014.

The total service liability surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s defined benefit 

category plus expected future contributions exceeds the value of expected future benefits and expenses.

Mount Alexander Shire Council was notified of the results of the actuarial investigation during January 2015. 

In addition to the above contributions, Mount Alexander Shire Council has paid unfunded liability payments to 

Vision Super totalling $0  (2013/2014 $0).

          • A VBI surplus of $77.1 million; and

            A total service liability surplus of $236 million. 

Superannuation contributions

In the event that a participating employer is wound-up, the defined benefit obligations of that employer 

will be transferred to that employer’s successor.

Latest actuarial investigation surplus amounts

defined benefit category of which Mount Alexander Shire Council is a contributing employer:

Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and the Fund, 

and that the Fund includes lifetime pensioners and their reversionary beneficiaries, it is unlikely that 

the Fund will be wound up.  

If there is a surplus in the Fund, the surplus cannot be returned to the participating employers.

2015 2014

$'000 $'000
Scheme Type of scheme Rate

Vision Super Defined benefits 9.50% 77 77

Vision Super Accumulation 9.50% 935 907
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 Certification of the Financial Statements

In my opinion the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 , the Local

Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 , Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting

requirements.

Bradley Thomas, CA

Principal Accounting Officer

Castlemaine

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements present fairly the financial transactions of Mount Alexander Shire Council for the year ended

30 June 2015 and the financial position of the Council as at that date.

As at the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars in the financial statements to be misleading or

inaccurate.

We have been authorised by the Council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 to certify the financial

statements in their final form.

Councillor Christine Henderson

Councillor Chris Cole

Philip J Rowland
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Description of Municipality

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT

Mount Alexander Shire is a diverse Shire with urban and rural communities, some having national, historic and environmental 

significance.

Our community comprises nearly 18,000 people with most of the population living in the townships of Castlemaine, Harcourt, 

Maldon, Newstead and Taradale. Greater Castlemaine is home to more than 50% of the population.

Located within commuting distance of Melbourne and Bendigo, the popularity of Mount Alexander Shire continues to grow as 

new residents, mostly from Melbourne, move to the area for lifestyle reasons.

Mount Alexander Shire is on Dja Dja Wurrung Country of which the members and Elders and their ancestors are the Traditional 

Owners of the land and waters.

The people of Mount Alexander Shire are an engaged and active community, with strengths in arts, culture, and sustainability. 

With a strong sense of community, our Shire benefits from above average levels of volunteering, community engagement and 

participation in artistic and cultural activity.

They value their ability to interact with each other through a range of community groups and settings, with a high level of formal 

and informal interaction between residents and Councils.

Like many regional communities, our community is ageing. Our Shire has a greater proportion of older residents than other 

parts of regional Victoria.

Children up to 14 years only make up about 16% of the population, compared to a state average of 18.6%.  Our population of 

17,994 with 7,398 households is expected to increase by 25% by 2031. Population and health data helps us understand our 

strengths and vulnerabilities as a community, identify future needs and plan for infrastructure and service delivery.



Sustainable Capacity Indicators

Results

Indicator/measure 2015 Material Variations
Population

Expenses per head of municipal population $1,835.38  

 [Total expenses / Municipal population]

Infrastructure per head of municipal population $11,434.21  

 [Value of infrastructure / Municipal population]

Population density per length of road 12.27  

 [Municipal population / Kilometres of local roads]

Own-source revenue 

Own-source revenue per head of municipal population $1,217.27  

 [Own-source revenue / Municipal population]

Recurrent grants 

Recurrent grants per head of municipal population $481.22  

 [Recurrent grants / Municipal population]

Disadvantage 

Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage 4.00  

 [Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage by 

decile]

Service Performance Indicators

Results

Service/indicator/measure 2015 Material Variations
Aquatic Facilities

Utilisation

Utilisation of aquatic facilities 0.88  

[Number of visits to aquatic facilities / Municipal population]

Animal Management

Health and safety

Animal management prosecutions 3.00  

[Number of successful animal management prosecutions]

Food Safety

Health and safety

Critical and major non-compliance outcome notifications 66.67%  

[Number of critical non-compliance outcome notifications 

and major non-compliance notifications about a food 

premises followed up / Number of critical non-compliance 

outcome notifications and major non-compliance 

notifications about a food premises] x100

Governance

Satisfaction 

Satisfaction with council decisions 48.00  

[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how council 

has performed in making decisions in the interest of the 

community]

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT

For the year ended 30 June 2015



Service Performance Indicators

Results

Service/indicator/measure 2015 Material Variations
Home and Community Care (HACC)

Participation

Participation in HACC service 59.04%  

[Number of people that received a HACC service / 

Municipal target population for HACC services] x100

Participation

Participation in HACC service by CALD people 25.86%  

[Number of CALD people who receive a HACC service / 

Municipal target population in relation to CALD people for 

HACC services] x100

Libraries

Participation 

Active library members 29.32%

[Number of active library members / Municipal population] 

x100

Maternal and Child Health (MCH)

Participation

Participation in the MCH service 86.45%  

[Number of children who attend the MCH service at least 

once (in the year) / Number of children enrolled in the 

MCH service] x100

Participation

Participation in the MCH service by Aboriginal children 86.36%  

[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the MCH 

service at least once (in the year) / Number of Aboriginal 

children enrolled in the MCH service] x100

Roads

Satisfaction 

Satisfaction with sealed local roads 48.00  

[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how council 

has performed on the condition of sealed local roads]

Statutory Planning

Decision making 

Council planning decisions upheld at VCAT 50.00%  

[Number of VCAT decisions that did not set aside council's 

decision in relation to a planning application / Number of 

VCAT decisions in relation to planning applications] x100

Waste Collection

Waste diversion

Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill 35.52%  

[Weight of recyclables and green organics collected from 

kerbside bins / Weight of garbage, recyclables and green 

organics collected from kerbside bins] x100



Results

Dimension/indicator /measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Material Variations
Efficiency

Revenue level

Average residential rate per residential property 

assessment
$1,178.56 $1,196.15 $1,244.14 $1,293.86 $1,345.58  

[Residential rate revenue / Number of residential property 

assessments]

Expenditure level

Expenses per property assessment $2,937.06 $2,733.17 $2,645.34 $2,688.59 $2,775.95

The decrease in the expenses per property assessment between 2015 and 2016 is due to 

increased deprecation expenditure in 2014/2015 to account for the timing of rehabilitation 

works at the Castlemaine Landfill.

 [Total expenses / Number of property assessments] 

Workforce turnover 

Resignations and terminations compared to average staff 15.47% 8.91% 8.91% 8.91% 8.91%  

[Number of permanent staff resignations and terminations 

/ Average number of permanent staff for the financial 

year] x100

Liquidity

Working capital 

Current assets compared to current liabilities 183.98% 163.05% 147.33% 137.97% 149.99%
Movements in the working capital ratio are mainly due to the proposed timing of large 

capital works as outlined in Council's Long Term Financial Plan.

[Current assets / Current liabilities] x100

Unrestricted cash

Unrestricted cash compared to current liabilities 47.94% 93.82% 59.69% 43.17% 56.79%
Fluctuations in unrestricted cash compared to current liabilities is due to the timing of large 

capital works, use of funds from Discretionary Reserves.

[Unrestricted cash / Current liabilities] x100

Forecasts

Financial Performance Indicators

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT

For the year ended 30 June 2015



Results

Dimension/indicator /measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Material Variations
Obligations

Asset renewal 

Asset renewal compared to depreciation 52.31% 104.59% 102.66% 85.80% 86.28%

There are a number of variations between years, this is a result of  projects planned in 

2018 and 2019, that are significant upgrades of assets rather than renewal (ie 

Castlemaine Pool).  The asset renewal ratio in 2015 is low as a result of increased 

depreciation costs relating to the rehabilitation works at the Castlemaine Landfill.

[Asset renewal expense / Asset depreciation] x100

Loans and borrowings 

Loans and borrowings compared to rates 16.93% 19.21% 26.13% 27.88% 25.08%

[Interest bearing loans and borrowings / Rate revenue] 

x100

Loans and borrowings repayments compared to rates 4.62% 3.83% 2.55% 2.81% 2.85%

[Interest and principal repayments on interest bearing 

loans and borrowings / Rate revenue] x100

Indebtedness 

Non-current liabilities compared to own source revenue 29.41% 28.08% 34.29% 35.33% 32.50%
The increase in 2017 is due to $2 million in forecast borrowings.  The indebtedness ratio 

remain in the low risk category.

[Non-current liabilities / Own source revenue] x100

Operating position

Adjusted underlying result

Adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit) -5.62% 0.07% 3.62% 3.93% 2.78%

There is a material variation between 2015 and 2016 as the underlying result improves as 

a result of recurrent capital funding of $700,000 delayed from 2015 and to be received in 

2016.

[Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit)/ Adjusted underlying 

revenue] x100

Stability

Rates concentration 

Rates compared to adjusted underlying revenue 62.29% 65.53% 67.02% 67.47% 67.89%

[Rate revenue / Adjusted underlying revenue] x100

Rates effort 

Rates compared to property values 0.50% 0.52% 0.53% 0.55% 0.56%

[Rate revenue / Capital improved value of rateable 

properties in the municipality] x100

Forecasts

Financial Performance Indicators



1. Basis of Preparation

Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its annual report. The performance statement 

includes the results of the prescribed sustainable capacity, service performance and financial performance indicators and 

measures together with a description of the municipal district and an explanation of material variations in the results. This 

statement has been prepared to meet the requirements of the  Local Government Act 1989  and Local Government (Planning 

and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

Where applicable the results in the performance statement have been prepared on accounting bases consistent with those 

reported in the Financial Statements. The other results are based on information drawn from council information systems or 

from third parties (e.g. Australian Bureau of Statistics).

The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the prescribed financial performance 

indicators and measures, the results forecast by the council’s strategic resource plan. The Local Government (Planning and 

Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variations in the results contained in the performance 

statement. Council has adopted materiality thresholds relevant to each indicator and measure and explanations have not been 

provided for variations below the materiality thresholds unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature.

The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those adopted by council in its strategic resource plan on 23 

June 2015 and which forms part of the council plan. The strategic resource plan includes estimates based on key assumptions 

about the future that were relevant at the time of adoption and aimed at achieving sustainability over the long term. Detailed 

information on the actual financial results is contained in the General Purpose Financial Statements. The strategic resource 

plan can be obtained by contacting council.

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT

Other Information



Lucy Roffey, CA

Principal Accounting Officer

Dated: 22 September 2015

Philip J Rowland

Chief Executive Officer

Dated: 22 September 2015

Certification of the Performance Statement 

In my opinion, the accompanying Performance Statement has been prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 

1989 , the Local Government (Finance and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

In our opinion the accompanying Performance Statement of the Mount Alexander Shire Council for the year ended 30 June 

2015 presents fairly in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 

Regulations 2014.

The performance statement contains the relevant performance indicators, measures and results in relation to service 

performance, financial performance and sustainable capacity.

As at the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars in the performance 

statement to be misleading or inaccurate.

We have been authorised by the Council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 to certify 

this performance statement in its final form.

Councillor Christine Henderson

Councillor

Dated: 22 September 2015

Councillor Chris Cole

Councillor

Dated: 22 September 2015
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